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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed
to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of Asian Capital
Resources (Holdings) Limited collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with
regard to Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited.
The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:
(1) the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading;
(2) there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after
due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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QHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHRE

Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Asian
Capital Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

As a result of the spill-over effects from the influence of key
economic and political issues like trade protectionism, the
global economy suffered tremendously in 2020. In addition,
the continuous measures of political sanctions imposed by
United States’ former President against the business and
financial sector of Hong Kong (“the City”) and the Peoples’
Republic of China (“China”) have created crises after crises
in Hong Kong, especially on the issue of law and order of
the City. The economy of China continues to face massive
challenges due to the covid pandemic in 2020, which
affects the flow of goods and human capital across Nations
for an extended period of time during such period.

Such challenges had impacted the pipeline of transactions
and business transactions of the Group in both the
consultancy and management services. China tight policy
over the containment of the pandemic also impacted
temporary, the Company’s progress in the digitalized
transformation of the value-added services on the multi-
channel marketing sector. Based on the management
research and assessment, this sector has proven to be
a very promising and sustainable business area for the
World economy since 2018, with exceptional potential in
China when restricted travel caused by the pandemic shall
increase the demand for internet and logistic supports for
the goods and services for the public. The increase demand
was a result for the reduce disruption of daily life and the
policy promoted by the Chinese Government over the dual
circulation of goods and services.
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The Group had observed that the Hong Kong’s economy,
was weakened by lingering local social incidents, while
the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) since
late 2019 has caused the loss of business confidence
to the global economy. Notwithstanding the Hong Kong
government’s foresight to position the city as a more
promising asset management venue over other competitive
financial centers these events of the past year inevitably
had negative impacts to the business environment for any
fast expansion and need to be approached cautiously. The
Board considers that business outlook in the near term is
highly uncertain and subject to volatility, and the impact of
the pandemic to the world is yet to be fully reflected, based
on recent unemployment statistic, despite the governments
around the world are dedicating all the necessary resources
to fight against the pandemic. The Company strongly
believes that the difficulties will be overcome with concerted
efforts from all countries and the Board had decided to
stay prudent through this difficult time and every effort have
been made to increase sources of revenue together with
the objective to rebuild the financial working capital of the
Company for those business expansion in progress. The
Board is mindful that recovery of economic momentum
may take time, but the global economy will pick up again
after the pandemic has been brought under control, and as
Chairman, | wish to thank all stakeholders of the Company
that have given their unwavering commitments and
supports to the Group during such difficult period.

FOUNDATION FOR SUSTAINABLE SUCCESS

| have been an Executive of the Company for more than
12 years and have been committed to bring value and
return to shareholders and had provided the necessary
financial supports as necessary. Nevertheless, in the midst
of the current economic turmoil, the Company will continue
to take great efforts to make timely adjustments to our
strategies and to improve internal operational efficiency.
During the reporting year, the Group’s multi-media channel
sector was establishing a servicing center and event
platform in Guangzhou to deliver the value-added services
as planned. These shall reflect our growing operating
efficiency and solid growth in our revenue expansion,
which were part of the ultimate objective of management to
maximize shareholders’ value.

CHAIRMAN'’S STAT\EMENT
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QHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHRE

REMARKABLE RESILIENCE TO CHANGE
AND EMPOWER TODAY FOR A BRIGHTER
TOMORROW

Border closure and other travel restrictions across the
globe have significantly minimized public movement and
have undoubtedly impacted on the Company’s transactions
management and consultancy services. It is difficult to
predict when these conditions will improve, but our Clients
are very committed with their corporate enhancement plans
and stayed with the Company on the delivery of services
despite the uncertainties.

Uncertainties have posed great challenges to current
business pursuit. The company will continue to strengthen
our business focus through operational on institutional
management and repositioning. It is believed that the
consumers’ confidence and business opportunities will
be rebuilt gradually, while consumer spending and traffic
will get back to normal, and the economy is poised for
continued sustainable growth. The Group stays committed
to provide quality customer service to maintain our
competitiveness. With our past practice experience and
proactive business strategies, | am confident that our
current endeavors will pay off in the foreseeable future.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous supports and trust, and extend
my heartiest thanks and appreciation to our fellow directors
for their guidance and to all managers and staffs for their
hard work and contributions, during these challenging
periods. Looking ahead, the Company will continue our
endeavor to overcome the future challenges and enhance
the value of our business.

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and loss attributable to shareholders

The total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$14,354,000
(2019: HK$17,998,000) which decreased by approximately
20.25% as compared to that of the previous financial year.

The decrease in total revenue is attributed to the decrease
of the management services provided. The audited
consolidated loss for the year ended 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$14,461,000 as compared with the
loss of corresponding period last year of HK$55,973,000.
The decrease was mainly attributed to decrease in cost of
services, impairment loss on goodwill and finance costs.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$574,000 (2019:
HK$9,509,000) which had decreased by approximately
93.96% as compared to that of the same period of last
year. This was due to significant decrease of “Imputed
Interest expenses on Convertible bonds payable” (Note 8
of Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements) which
was incurred for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$194,000 (2019: HK$8,707,000).

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s
borrowing consists of amounts due to associates of
HK$2,340,000, amount due to the Company’s substantial
shareholder of approximately HK$11,252,000, and an
amount due to a director of approximately HK$7,066,000.

The Group had a cash and bank balance of approximately
HK$7,061,000 (2019: HK$5,520,000). The Group
continues to adopt a prudent treasury policy to maintain
its cash and bank balance either in Hong Kong Dollars,
or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries,
maintaining a minimum exposure to foreign exchange risks.

The issued share capital of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was HK$200,902,041(2019:
HK$176,182,556), which was increased by issuance of
shares for conversion of convertible bonds on 8 January
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER R

Gearing ratio

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio of
the Group, expressed as a percentage of net debt divided
by the total capital plus net debt, was 71.75% (2019:
266.48%).

Employee and remuneration policies

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
employed a total of 65 employees (2019: 10), of which 4
were located in Hong Kong, 60 were located in the PRC
and the remaining 1 in USA. The Group’s remuneration
policies are in line with the prevailing market practices and
formulated on the basis of performance and experience
of the employees. The salary and related benefits of the
employees are rewarded on a performance related basis
and the general remuneration structure of the Group is
subject to review annually.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies

Deregistration and winding-up of various subsidiaries
in the Group

The Board has resolved that, in order to reduce the
operating costs of the Group, those subsidiaries within
the Group which no longer add value to, nor generate any
income attributable to the Group, should be deregistered,
or voluntarily wound up or ceased operations and the
disposed of at par to improve governance and compliance.

The subsidiary which is currently in the deregistration
process is: Sinobase Asia Limited.

Those subsidiaries which are currently being voluntarily
wound up are: Asian Information Investment Consulting
Limited, BuyCollection.com Limited, and Myhome Network
Limited.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW

During the past year, there was a decrease in the
turnover of the Group from HK$17,998,000 of 2019
to HK$14,354,000 of 2020 and the loss for the year
decreased from approximate HK$56,268,000 of 2019
to approximate HK$13,813,000 of 2020, resulting from
management’s vigilant control over the operational
expenses and practice development expenses. The loss
is partially attributable to the lockdown faced by the
Group’s operations during the coronavirus pandemic,
which had caused interruptions and impossibility for the
Group Executives to travel freely, in order and to follow up
on the various deals in the pipeline during the period. The
loss is also a result of the additional professional costs
for regulating compliance. During the period, the Group
had engaged in adopting a more promising management
and investment model under the newly enacted Limited
Partnership Fund Ordinance, promoted by the City of
Hong Kong as legislative supports to make Hong Kong a
favorable center for wealth and private equity management
services. In addition, the ordinance has also concluded
the Executives’ search for a reliable overseas center to
complement the Company’s existing service scope in
consultancy and management services.

The Company had been engaging in entrusted equity
investment management and consulting services in
China which, include growth capital investments through
asset management services, syndication of fund(s) from
entrepreneurs with full compliance to respective laws,
and buyout transactions on their behalf. The Company’s
consistency in our management personnel, and the
experiences and cases performed in the past 15 years,
with both successes and failures, had provided a solid
foundation for our management enhancement advice to be
of value to the Group’s clients.

The Company has always respected the governance
and regulatory compliance over her business pursuit.
Furthermore the Group remains continuously prudent to
ensure that management and consulting clients of the
Company will comply with the PRC and international law
while staying vigilant in terms of compliance issues.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER R

OPERATION REVIEW (Cont’d)

The registration of the authorized Limited Partnership
Funds (“LPF”) was not introduced until October, 2020 by
enactment of the Legislative Council in Hong Kong, and the
Company is pleased to report, on behalf of the Company’s
clients, the Company have the first LPF registered in
February 2021. Regrettably, the asset under management
by the Company had been in low level for 2020, as three
similar funds are under negotiation by the Executives
currently, there is an expected increase of such activities in
2021.

As discussed in quarterly financial reports in 2020,
the Group’s management and consulting business;
nevertheless, was able to navigate through the most
challenging year of 2020 with steady services, especially in
respect of the assistance provided to our clients on social
responsibility obligations during the pandemic years. The
Company has been able to remain stable by carrying out
value added services and activities in consulting. However,
the Company was unable to strengthen the working
capital of the Group to re-capitalise the financial position
of the Group for expansion and business developments
and further enlarge the revenue sources. Furthermore,
the uncertain environment in the direct investment and
management sector, with increasing challenges and
concerns the fund industry was facing, the performance of
those contracts of services consummated are continuously
being reviewed with cautious optimism, which based on
the view of the Board, can have adverse impact to the
reasonable estimates of the Goodwill value attached to
the management and consulting sector as reported, and
shareholders should take into consideration of the Auditors’
report in this area. Moving forward the Company will
endeavor to rebuild the assets, expand on client bases, and
improve enterprise value throughout 2021, when the post-
pandemic economic condition improves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (Cont’d)

Despite all the above obstacles, the Group is pleased
to report that the business focus of the Company in
management and consultancy services and multi-channel
media value-added services are beginning to take better
shape by the Executives efforts during the year. In
additions, 31 July 2020 the CSRC issued consultation
papers Measures for the Supervision and Administration
of Public offered Securities Investment Fund Managers a
more favorable enacted Company’s Law in foreign direct
investments and the Company believes that the Measures
and Implementation Provisions aim to revise and improve
the old measures for fund management companies issued
in 2012. The key changes provide better and a clearer rule
base supports that the Company operates under, and are
beneficial to the strategic growth plan of the Company, as a
whole.

To complete the strategic plan of the Company, we shall
continuously research, develop and explore investment
opportunities which are strategic to its business operations
and which will provide meaningful return of the Company’s
shareholders.

Digital Marketing and digital platform service and
operation

In recognizing that migration is necessary to provide
the VAS services to the Group’s enterprise clients, the
Company proceeded to upgrade the marketing and
enterprise relationship management (ERM) services by
radio only platform to digital and analytic transformations,
which were widely undertaken by many technologies
companies.

Recognizing the important of the paradigm shift over
a more regulated, supervised and license mandatory
operating environment for the multi-channel marketing
sector, the Company entered into the fourth quarter of
2020, in building up a supply-chain and management
platform to re-engineer the management of the digital
risks and financing operations and to provide services to
the greater Guangzhou area with defined organizational
accountability. The Company had assisted and established
a range of effective practices and tools, which is crucial
for establishing an indispensable brand, and to ensure
compliance and sustainable services by the Company in the
sector of key-opinion leaders’ marketing in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER R

OPERATION REVIEW (Cont’d)

Digital Marketing and digital platform service and
operation (Cont’d)

The Management further observed that towards the year
end of 2020 that PRC Government was tightening scrutiny
of its tech-development enterprises operating within China,
and in December 2020, market concerns were raised when
regulators launched an anti-trust probe into e-commerce
Unicorns. With such regulatory scrutiny, the policy aimed to
end the once laissez-faire approach, it came after a string
of high-profile deals in the sector that triggered concerns
about competition and consumer data.

The Management therefore, decided to approach the
multi-channel marketing businesses with great care and
full compliance with comprehensive studies over the new
development of such regulatory trend were undertaken
by the Executives, in order to comply in full to the new
introduced measures.

Operational risk analysis and governance

Throughout the year, the Company had observed various
regulatory and business model changes due to the (i)
tightening of regulatory oversight, (i) changes over the
direct investment law of the Peoples’ Republic of China,
(iii) the introduction of the Limited Partnership Fund
Ordinance in Hong Kong to enable the asset management
and consultancy services to have Regulatory oversight
over certain types of asset management activities, and (iv)
the recent regulatory challenges faced by Ant Group Co.
Limited on issues related to financing and multi-channel
marketing deliveries, together with (v) the introduction of the
International Accounting Standards of revenue recognition
which have impact over the contract negotiation on
industries as telecommunications, asset management, real
estate and software industries. To ensure best interest for
the shareholders as a whole, the Group Management had
endeavor to perform proactive continuous analysis of the
Group’s existing operations, and to ensure orderly practice
in future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW (Cont’d)

Operational risk analysis and governance (Cont’d)

We are pleased to state that throughout the year, certain
critical milestones had been achieved as instigated by the
management since 2019. However, due to operational risk
brought by the prolonged administrative measures to deal
with the Global Pandemic and restrictions imposed over
work-life balance and travel mobility, many initiatives of
the Group faced delays in registrations, causing disruption
or inability to move forward as planned. However, the
Management had committed to mitigate to the best of
their ability the risk associated and rejuvenate the business
operations of the Group to normal and stable conditions
soonest possible. Shareholders shall be careful when
trading the company’s share during the most uncertain
time of the history of the Company, as disclosed in the
third quarter of 2020 by the Company in their report to
shareholders.

Future Prospects

The prospect of 2021 might be clouded by the uncertainties
with the global economy still affected by the ongoing
political issues and a growing coronavirus pandemic.
However, the Board feels that it is only for a short-term
basis and it has provided the Group with an opportunity to
reposition itself to achieve better return for shareholders
in the long run. More specifically, the coronavirus has
served as proof that the vision of the Company to focus
on providing consulting services to the health and wellness
sector to be of an accurate direction as it points toward a
mutually promising business for 2021 and wishingly, years
to come in future.
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DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY PROFILES

EERDAREEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xie Xuan

Chairman

Mr. Xie, aged 51, joined the Group in 2002. Mr. Xie holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group. Before
joining the Group he has over 20 years of successful
investment and management experience in the areas of
property and logistics in the People’s Republic of China. He
graduated from Jinan University, the PRC with a degree in
International Economics.

Dr. Feng Ke

Dr. Feng, aged 49, joined the Group in October 2008. Dr.
Feng holds a Ph.D. in Economics from Peking University,
People’s Republic of China. He is currently the deputy
director of Peking University’s Center for Financial
Innovation and Development. Dr. Feng currently serves as
an independent non-executive director of China Huirong
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 01290) and
Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code:
01176).

Mr. Huang Haitao

Mr. Huang, aged 42, has more than 19 years of large-
scale real estate projects engineering construction
and management experience. In recent years, he has
been involved in investment and financing and resource
integration practices in industrial investment.
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DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY PROFILES

Mr. Liao Haifei

Mr. Liao, aged 42, has more than 18 years of experience
in commercial and industrial real estate, with especial
focus on commercial real estate project market research,
planning and positioning, business resource development,
marketing strategy formulation and implementation,
marketing promotion, operation management planning and
other frontline practices. He has in depth involvement in
over 15 projects with aggregated floor area of more than
10 million square meters. He is also experienced in pre-
admission evaluation and post-investment management of
domestic pan-entertainment and Internet business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu Jixue

Mr. Wu, aged 75, holds a Master degree in Economics. He
is currently a professor, guest lecturer and visiting scholar
at a number of colleges and universities in the PRC and
abroad. He has published more than 262 papers and 18
books in the areas of economics, finance and management.

Mr. Zheng Hongliang

Mr. Zheng, aged 62, was graduated from the Department
of Economic of Renmin University of China with a Master
Degree in 1987. Currently Mr. Zheng is a researcher of
the Institute of Economics of the Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences and a doctoral student supervisor of
the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences. Mr. Zheng’s field of research mainly covers the
areas in respect of microeconomics, comparative study
of corporate system, theory of corporate governance,
and revolution of state enterprises. Meanwhile, Mr. Zheng
is currently the Executive Vice-Editor-in-Chief and the
director of editorial office of Economic Research Journal
(“#e L) ), which is a leading PRC journal in economic
theory research published by the Institute of Economics of
Chinese Academy of Social Science.
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DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY PROFILES

EERDAREEN

Dr. Wang Yi

Dr. Wang Yi, aged 50, professor of Beijing Technology
and Business University, doctoral supervisor, Ph.D. in the
School of Economics and Business Administration, Beijing
Normal University, his main research fields are business
management, labor economics, and macroeconomics. Dr.
Wang concurrently serves as a council member of China
Business Economics Association, China Labor Economics
Association, China Educational Economics Association and
China Disabled Persons’ Federation.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ying Yuk Sim

Ms. Ying has over 20 years of experience in accounting,
financial control, corporate finance and personal financial
planning. She had previously served in a number of
Hong Kong listed companies and private companies with
investment in China, in the fields of banking, construction,
trading and manufacturing, property management and
insurance company. Ms. Ying holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Manchester Business
School, University of Manchester. In addition, she is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and loss before taxation for
the year ended 31 December 2020 by principal activities is
as follows:

EEERE

ARAER([EZ)BEHEFREFTS
IARARNBMAEBHE ST _TF+
=t BUFEZEEZMERE

wmE
—_HA

REIBEBRBEISZ2EBESH

AARZEFBEBKAIREREK - BAKNEBER
AETEXEB2FBIARKRE VBRI T
36 AEFEBE—_T-_TF+-_A=+—H
HFERFBEBE S 2 WS MBRRATEER
DR

Profit/(loss)

before
Revenue taxation
prBiRTERR,
W2k (E518)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHERT
By Principal activities: BREZXBED
Consultancy service income A R AR A U A 13,493 (7,059)
Media services income HEE R A 861 (3,142)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2020 by geographical
areas is as follows:

AEFEEEZ_Z_ZEF+_A=+—HLHF
EEmwERE sz RERBHRATEES TN
T

Profit/(loss)

before
Revenue taxation
B puiEsFl,
Wz (E518)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

By geographical areas RiE & 5
PRC F 14,354 (4,079)
HK BB - (9,129)
Total FEE 14,354 (13,208)
THAERB)ERAR T -TEEH
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The loss for the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 and the financial position of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
47 to 175 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 176.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers
are as follows:

EERER
AEEHE_T-_TF+-_A=+—HLF
EZEBEANEBRZAB 2SR RER A
FWMEFATEATS B2 I E P HHRE -

EETERKBEBEE T _TF+ _A=1—
HEFERE(ZZ—NEF &) -

MBERBIE
AEERBERAMRFEZEBAREESR
BERETITWNE176H -

Y% - BERRAE
REBRFRZNE - BERR
HREGA M HREME14 -

SER B

EREFRRHUER
AEBEEES R MEFEAHE RREA
EASLET :

2020 2019
—B-%F T %

Sales HE

The largest customer TAEF 89.95% 70.62%
Five largest customers combined AARBEP&R 99.06% 99.34%
Purchases #AE

The largest supplier RAEIER 33.37% 56.34%
Five largest suppliers combined AAEEEET 95.45% 96.28%
One of the five largest customers was —L(EBM)EEHRE —N(ENMNBREERARNA/RERERLZ—

R 2 7] in which Mr. Xie Xuan, the director of the Company
holds 12% shareholding as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, other customers and suppliers
are independent third parties and none of the Directors or
any of their close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the best knowledge of the Directors, owns 5% or more of
the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial interest in
the Group’s above-mentioned customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 21 December 2018 the Company, pursuant to the
acquisition agreement as described in the Company’s
circular dated 10 September 2014, issued in aggregate
HK$111,237,682 of zero-coupon convertible bonds
convertible at the initial Conversion Price of HK$0.45
per Share with 24-month maturity, to the Vendors or its
nominees.

The Company received request from the holder(s) of the
Bonds for a full exercise of the bonds on 23 December
2019, due to executing procedures of the allotment was
completed on 8 January 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Based on information which is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as
at the latest practicable date prior to the issuance of this
annual report, the Directors can confirm that at least 25%
of the Company’s total listed issued share capital has at all
times been held by the public, as required by Rule 11.23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year is set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company has no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders (2019: Nil) in
accordance with the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman)
Dr. Feng Ke

Mr. Huang Haitao

Mr. Liao Haifei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Jixue

Mr. Zheng Hongliang

Dr. Wang Yi

In accordance with Article 87(1) and 86(3) of the articles
of association of the Company, Dr. Feng Ke, Mr. Huang
Haitao and Mr. Liao Haifei shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
The retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors to be proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has an unexpired service contract that is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, none of the directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Particulars of retirement benefit schemes are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(A) Interests and short positions of the Directors in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations
As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares,
or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Cap. 571, (“SFO”)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) contained in the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Cont’d) S
(A) Interests and short positions of the Directors in (A)
the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations
(Cont’d)
(i) Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares
of HK$1.00 each (the “Shares”) of the
Company

e ()
EERFATARJMHEMZRG - 4
BARR 3 R (EHEE 2 A RR A ()

() REXEHREE.00ETZEE
BR(k#1)ZFe

Number of issued shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FRERTROYE - SHRERNE

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued Shares as

Through at 31 December
spouse 2020
Directly or minor Through ERATR
beneficially children controlled Beneficiary k-t
owned B#iBEEs  corporation  of atrust Total +=A=+-H2
ERELHE FAEEFT EAREEE GERREA ot ERTRHEM
Directors S
Mr. Xie Xuan S L4 - - 51,801,473 - 51,801,473 25.78%
(Note 1)
(Wit 1)
Note 1: ~ The controlled corporation is Glamour Bizrq s i 3k @ A Glamour

House Limited, which is accustomed to
acting in accordance with Mr. Xie Xuan’s
instructions who is its sole director and
shareholder, and which is the beneficial
owner as to 67.18% of Asian Dynamics
International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including any interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Cont’d) HELSIE(Z)

(B) Interests and short positions of the Substantial (B) FERFENRAATZE - HEARG R
Shareholders in the Shares, underlying shares BHEEEZHES KA
and debentures of the Company
As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to RZE-_ZTF+_A=+—8 " BAXRQ
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the FIEERITRETFFE WAL (K
following persons (other than the Directors or chief NEESBRITEHEHBRIN) RAE D 1B
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed B ES S EERBIEESIR
or taken to have, an interest or short position in the EEANEE RO EXVIBE2 3D A
Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to AANTWE 2R IORB T -

be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, were as

follows:
(i) Long Positions in the Shares (i) REBE#HZHFE
Percentage of the
Company’s issued
Shares as at
31 December 2020
ERATR
Number of k- Slal- -
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares +=-A=+-B2
BE&H St B E ERTRHBE DL
Glamour House Limited Interest of a controlled 51,801,473 25.78%
corporation (Note 1)
—RXEEENER (1)
Asian Dynamics International Beneficial owner 51,789,613 25.78%
Limited ERBBEA
Century Field Limited Beneficial Owner 27,630,666 13.75%
BRBEBA
Note 1:  The controlled corporation is Asian PiEET % X PR B R Asian
Dynamics International Limited, which Dynamics International
is beneficially owned as to 67.18% by Limited > FHGlamour House
Glamour House Limited. Limited % z51#H67.18% °
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Cont’d)

(B) Interests and short positions of the Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company (Cont’d)

(i) Long Positions in the Underlying Shares
Nil

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020,
the Directors of the Company were not aware of
any other person (other than the Directors and the
Supervisors of the Company) who had an interest and
short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and/
or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the period were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares or debentures in the Company or any other body
corporate granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or management shareholders of the
Company or their respective associates had an interest
in a business which competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group nor any
conflicts of interest which has or may have with the Group.
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MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDER

As far as the Directors are aware of, other than Asian
Dynamics International Limited, Glamour House Limited
and Mr. Xie Xuan, there was no other person as at 31
December 2020 who was directly or indirectly interested in
5% or more of the shares then in issue of the Company and
who was able, as a practicable matter, to direct or influence
the management of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have
been audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED. CHENG
& CHENG LIMITED retired and offers themselves for
reappointment as auditor of the Company at the next
annual general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance. The Board
recognises that such commitment is essential in upholding
the accountability and transparency and to achieve a
balance of interests between the shareholders, customers,
creditors, employees as well as other stakeholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

To ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, the Board will continue to monitor and revise
the Company code to bring our corporate governance
practices in line with the changes in the environment and
requirements of the Code. In the opinion of the Directors,
the Company has complied with all the provisions of the
Code, for the year ended 31 December 2020, except:

()  under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly
established and set out in writing. The Company has
set out in written terms the responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer. At present,
Mr. Xie Xuan, the chairman of the Company, also
undertakes the responsibilities of the chief executive
officer until a replacement for the chief executive
officer is found. The Company considers that under
the supervision of its Board and its Independent
Non-executive Directors, a balancing mechanism
exists so that the interests of the shareholders are
adequately and fairly represented.

(i) under code provision A.4.1 of the Code,
non-executive directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. None of the
existing Non-executive Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term. This constitutes
a deviation from the code provision. However, all
the Non-executive Directors of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at annual general
meetings pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors
and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with all the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on
behalf of the shareholders. The Board is of the view that
it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value for the
shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests
of the Company and the shareholders by discharging its
duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the
principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of seven Directors, with four
executive Directors, namely Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman),
Dr. Feng Ke, Mr. Huang Haitao and Mr. Liao Haifei; and
three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wu
Jixue, Mr. Zheng Hongliang, and Dr. Wang Yi. They are
professionals in different areas and provide independent
opinions based on their expertise.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Proposed regular Board meeting dates for a year are
informed to each Director at the beginning of the year.
Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of
a regular meeting. For special board meeting, reasonable
notice will be given. Directors participated, either in person
or through other electronic means of communication in the
Board meetings. The Board of Directors meets regularly at
least 4 times a year. The Directors participated in person
or through other means of communication. All notices
of board meetings were given to all Directors, who were
given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis
of major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses,
including relevant rules and regulations. Directors can also
seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each board meeting will be kept and are open for inspection
at any reasonable time on request by any Director.
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DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of the legal action against the Directors.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment of new
directors. The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are laid down in the
Company’s Articles of Association. According to the
Company’s Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything
herein, the chairman of the Board shall not, whilst holding
such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be
taken into account in determining the number of Directors
to retire in each year. Accordingly, as at the date of this
report, Mr. Xie Xuan, being the chairman of the Company,
is not subject to retirement by rotation. Other relevant
Articles state that all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by shareholders
at their first annual general meeting after appointment, a
retired Director shall be eligible for re-election. All Directors
should retire by rotation at least once every three years. The
nomination committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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During the year, 14 Board meetings, 1 annual general
meeting (“AGM”) and 1 extraordinary general meeting were
held. Details of the attendance of the Directors are as

follows.
Extraordinary

Board of Audit ~ Nomination  Remuneration general  Annual general

Directors EZ Directors ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee meeting meeting
E3E EUZEE ReZEE  HMEEE  RANMXE  RREEXE

Executive Directors BfiEs
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman) HELEZE) 1814 NATEE in in in 10
Or. Feng Ke BHEL 12114 NATER NATER NATER 11 /1
Mr. Huang Haitao BNERE 12114 NATER NATER NATER 1/ /1
Mr. Liao Haife BEREL 1114 NAFER NAFER NAFER 11 /1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BiknnEs
Mr. Wu Jixue Tagks 1014 44 NAAER 1/ 17 /1
Mr. Zheng Hongliang PRtk 1014 3/4 1 1 1 o
Or. Wang Yi &AL 914 44 17 NAFER 11 /1
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEEZTILBER

The Board adopts a board diversity policy and discusses
all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue
to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills
and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon
the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every newly appointed
director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements. Besides, Directors
should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors will be arranged and reading materials on relevant
topics will be issued to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the
current Directors received the following training with an
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director
of a listing company in compliance with the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Year.
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Corporate Governance
Updates on Laws, Rules &

SREABE

Accounting and Financial/
Management or Other

Regulations Professional Skills
LEELHMED  RAIRE THRUE EESHMSE
flz&HmEE B
Attended Attended
Read Seminars of Read Seminars of
Material Briefing Material Briefing
HEHAE HEHE
Directors = B B E ELZ g A EE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman) HERLE(FE) Y/ Y/ Y/ Y/
Dr. Feng Ke BRI Y/ Y/ Y/2 Y/
Mr. Huang Haitao BEELE Y/ 2 Y/& Y/ 2 Y/=
Mr. Liao Halifei BERTE G Y/ Y/& Y/
Independent Non-Executive BIEBITEE
Directors
Mr. Wu Jixue MEELE Y/ & Y/ Y/ Y/
Mr. Zheng Hongliang A LA Y/ & Y/ 2 Y/2 Y/ =
Dr. Wang Yi T#EL Y/ & Y/ & Y/ 2 Y/
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS EHITES

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. None of the existing Non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific
term. This constitutes a deviation from the code provision.
However, all the Non-executive Directors of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at annual general
meetings pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Company considers all of the Independent
Non-executive Directors to be independent based on the
annual confirmations received.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee has been established.
The current chairman of the committee is Mr. Wu Jixue,
an Independent Non-executive Director, and the other
members are Mr. Zheng Hongliang, and Mr. Xie Xuan.

Under the code provision B.1.1, a listed issuer should
establish a remuneration committee with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and
duties. The Company, has established a remuneration
committee as required under the code provision B.1.1.
The role and function of the remuneration committee
includes the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all Executive Directors, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and to make recommendations to
the board regarding the remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors. The remuneration committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

it comprised of namely Mr. Zheng Hongliang, Dr. Wang
Yi and Mr. Xie Xuan. The chairman of the committee is
Mr. Zheng Hongliang, an Independent Non-Executive
director. The committee considers the past performance,
qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship during the year.

The nomination committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

During the year, the committee considered and resolved
that all the existing Directors shall be recommended to be
retained by the Company. Further, in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association (subject to the proposed
amendments at the forthcoming annual general meeting),
except Mr. Xie Xuan, the Company Chairman, those who
have served the Company for more than three years will
retire, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year under review, CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
have been appointed as the external auditor of the
Company.

The audit committee of the Company is responsible
for considering the appointment of the external auditor
and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditor, including whether such non-audit
functions could lead to any potential material adverse effect
on the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total fee
paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Company’s external auditor is set out
below:

BE_T_TE+_A=+—HLEFER"
Z?»‘”ATEMI\H%Z%(EWETA%*Z&?F%*ZEH%
MmER Bz ER@ERIINT

2020 2019
k- k- 3 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#xT T
Type of Service R FsTEsE
Audit Service FaTR% 900 1,000

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year, which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020
and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and are properly
prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties which may affect the Company’s business
or cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Statements of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements and external auditor’s reporting
responsibilities as set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure the
fairness and competitiveness of total remuneration.
The emoluments of executive Directors are determined
based on the skills, knowledge, individual performance
as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and
accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration
the Company’s performance and prevailing market
conditions. The remuneration of the executive Directors
and senior management is subject to review and approval
by the remuneration committee. The remuneration policy
of independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that
they are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs. Their emoluments
are determined with reference to their skills, experience,
knowledge, duties and market trends. The remuneration
of the independent non-executive Directors is subject to
approval by the Board.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules of at least 25% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares which was
held by the public.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SHARES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed shares of the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

On an annual basis the internal control process was
performed periodically, while the Directors have reviewed
and are satisfied with their ability to comply with the
policies installed as part of the Group’s internal control
system, including, in particular, financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions.
Furthermore, the Directors are satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, a and
their training programs and budget.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Miss Ying Yuk Sim, maintains a
high standard of corporate governance and has complied
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year under review, there is no changes in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue
at shareholder meetings, including the election of individual
directors.

According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company after each shareholder
meeting.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision). However,
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more shareholders of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one shareholder of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director of the company

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, if a
shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”)
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office.

The Notice (i) must include the personal information of the
Candidate as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and (ii) must be signed by the shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness
to be elected and consent of publication of his/her personal
information.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on
the day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have
sufficient time to receive and consider the proposal of
election of the Candidate as a director of the Company
without adjourning the general meeting, shareholders
are urged to submit and lodge the Notice as early as
practicable preferably at least 15 business days prior to the
date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the board
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board
of Directors/Company Secretary at the Company’s
head office. For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s)
must deposit and send the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the Company’s head office and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed
as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020

BRERBRE—BANLZLEXRAFEREZERF

BRBEARREBKERMAA - i —BREEE
HA—RALT(TREADRBRAS E2EXR
RAEE HIBARARRARERIEREE
BAGRR]) - REREREABRTWE -

ANV EE T BRIEGEM ET AR BIZE17.50(2)
BAREREAZBAER  R()VVEBRZEE
EREEE  THIEEAESRAREES
BUYRBAREBAZR -

RXBAZARBTERRASBREZAH
$h o WAEBRZBRAE AR

REERAR ARG T A5 E U & E B
BREARAAANEFTZEFBULRRBR
RELEMBTT  BERREDEATERT
BEERNHEEREAZERAGRTHBRNR
D15(EEE B RIRBAN o

AESERXEAZERF
BRAEFERIEMNEAME - WRARE
FE/NEMERHEDSH  XERXAR
AEMRER - RRER  BRRUARIRT
BIARBCLEEZ2F  BAXBAREN
(BERME) 2 ERERRAEHRER @ I
REREZE2R  BEFBERINENR X
FERE2F  BAXBARERHER - BR
BRSARBEIRE TAKE -

BRITARARABERAREG LRAEFEFL
i e



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to
the shareholders and investors in compliance with GEM
Listing Rules and uses a number of formal communications
channels to account to shareholders and investors for the
Company.

These include (i) the publication of quarterly and annual
reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders of the
Company to raise comments and exchanging views with
the Board; (i) the Company replying to the enquires from
shareholders timely; (iv) updated and key information of
the Company available on website of the Company; (v)
the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors;
and (vi) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong
serves the shareholders regarding all share registration
matters. Also, the chairman of the board would attend
the annual general meeting and he would also arrange for
the chairmen of the other committees to attend. In case
of the absence, of the chairman of such committees, he
would invite another member of the committee to attend.
These persons would be available to answer questions
at the annual general meeting. The chairman of the
independent board committee would also be available
to answer questions at any general meeting to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is
subject to requires independent shareholders’ approval.
The external auditor would also be arranged to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
independent auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Company will keep on reviewing its corporate
governance standards on a timely basis and the Board
endeavour to take the necessary actions to ensure
compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices introduced by the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY AR S
Certified Public Accountants

@ HR 3R ST B F R AT A R A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ASIAN CAPITAL RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 47 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis For Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As discussed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amounts of goodwill which have
been allocated to consultancy services segment and media
services segment are HK$23,900,000 and HK$141,000 as
at 31 December 2020 respectively. During the year ended
31 December 2020, impairment loss on goodwill allocated
to consultancy services segment of HK$17,900,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont’d)

We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the reasonableness of
assumptions made by the directors in the estimation of
recoverable amount of the related group of cash-generating
units for consultancy services segment as at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2019. There are no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to satisfy
ourselves as to the valuation of the goodwill as included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 and the Group’s
impairment loss of goodwill included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might
have a consequential effect on the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 and the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that the Group has incurred
losses for a number of years. The Group has incurred a net
loss of HK$13,813,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 and sustained net current liabilities of HK$2,192,000
at 31 December 2020. These events or conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
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a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the =ZEg4\  ZZE2EBET "Xt EFAEETE
matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section ﬁﬁéazriﬂfk%ﬁ$lﬁ 0
and the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
How the matter was EEZENBEZ
Key audit matter addressed in our audit P EEEIE e REREEIE
Impairment assessment Our procedures in relation to E%&H{J@ﬁuyﬁﬁ WE S N E A FEL
of trade and other impairment assessment of  Z3E{EL(H BEZORET HZ
receivables trade and other receivables B et
included:
Refer to note 21 to the 9‘%%% & B & R KR BT
consolidated financial — Assessing the grouping of  7F21 - FBRAEEEHA
statements trade and other receivables BMHEE REER
by considering the nature of s T HE
As at 31 December 2020, the debtors and credit risk WR-ZE-—F&F+— A 2 & H b g I BR
the trade and other characteristics; =+—H' EB£H IHES
receivables (net of 2B 5N EuEIEE
impairment) of the — Testing the accuracy and (KB RE) B4 - AISHETEERI
Group amounted to completeness of the data 7,543,000/ - & 5 2B T B IR b
approximately HK$7,543,000. used by management to &EEFEZHEHE_=Z A A H S
The Group has written off develop the historical loss —ZEf#+—-F=+— B AE R 1 N ST B
on other receivables of rates and assessing the HI|FFEEZHEuEIL 1 R E%
HK$61,000 for the year sufficiency, reliability and  BEZk61,000/8 7T B RS - [
ended 31 December 2020. relevancy of the data; S RHAERBIME
The expected credit - Assessing the FWHEHEEEBERXNY - FEREEBES
losses model involved appropriateness of EEEREBHBEBESHN SERE A - 8|
management’s estimate the impairment loss A2 HIFBEI{=ZEEIEN HBEEEE =R
of the life time expected methodology, testing the (&=t W)y & & BB &R 4 gt
credit loss to be incurred, calculation of the historical BRERZ @ BEEEE = B A K TE HA
which is estimated by loss rates and evaluating B4k & - %1 HY fE LK 30 k2B AR R
taking into account the reasonableness of IEHEER  BEPiEX B BT RE M R
various factors including the forward-looking H#HENEFPREBITER A1
the credit loss experience, adjustments made to reflect &F T B L 1A L IR B
ageing of overdue current and forecast future % & 8 K& 12 @ #
receivables, customers’ economic conditions; (st
repayment history and the
ability of the customers in — Testing the ageing of trade - LA OB R
fulfilling their repayment debtors on a sample basis; B 5 EWEE
obligation, as well as BEBS
the current estimation
involved a significant — Testing the calculation - EZERREHH
degree of management of expected credit loss | HB pE N MY 2=
judgement. provisions considering H - RBEPHEE
the amount due at the EXEMEER
reporting date, creditability =ZHHEHEZE
of customers and other EEEENE
qualitative factors; and g8
- Checking, on a sample - R EEE AW
basis, the subsequent BEARABERP
settlement of trade HEBFEENE 5
receivables by customers FEURBRE X o

after the reporting period.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December
2020 as disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated
with respect to this matter.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRHETHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing

Practising Certificate Number P06998

Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SRERERAEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

Note 2020 2019
B &E —E-FFE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Revenue Wz 6(a) 14,354 17,998
Cost of services R 7% A AR (2,617) (5,188)
Cost of sales SHE KA (79) -
Other revenue and net income H e R AERE 6(b) 254 291
Administrative and operating expenses 1T K <& 3% (11,153) (17,167)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE (17,900) (47,966)
Loss on disposal of plant and HEME R&E 2 EE
equipment (43) (176)
Written off of plant and equipment WS IR = KRR ()] -
Written off of other receivables 58 L A B UK AR 3R (61) -
Written off of trade receivables 155 2 5 e U AR 5K = (162)
Loss on lease termination WIFFHEEE = (332)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries X $4HI B A 72 BB (3) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 33 4,822 6,780
Loss from operations KB ER (12,435) (45,922)
Finance costs & KA 8 (574) (9,509
Share of loss of associates SaK(S) /NS =] (199) (260)
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE 9 (13,208) (55,691)
Income tax expenses FRS T F 2 11 (605) (677)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR XEFEEHE (13,813) (56,268)
Other comprehensive income: Hitb 2 -
ltem that will not be reclassified to TEEFHIEEERN
profit or loss: HH
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial TR EFAEM
assets at fair value through other FHEHRE([EAFE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) SAEMmEEE])
W B EE A TFE
(BE) W= (44) 162
ltems that may be reclassified HignaeEFH D ES
subsequently to profit or loss: BmcIEE
Exchange difference arising on BREBINEBFREEYZ
translation of foreign operations fE 5 =58 (604) 441
Exchange difference reclassified BN BREHENS
to profit or loss on disposal of NAElZEmE
subsidiaries bE 5 =R - (308)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  AFEEHMEE
for the year, net of tax (E58) Wz
MERBIE (648) 295
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEZEBEER
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (14,461) (55,973)
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO: THANLREILRSTS ¢
— owners of the Company S /NEIE Z =N (12,521) (56,268)
— non-controlling interests — IEPE AR R A (1,292) -
(13,813) (56,268)

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERERAEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

Note 2020 2019
B 5T —E-FFE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#ERT FHET
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE TIANLESEZE
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO: Sa4 :
— owners of the Company S NEIE Y =N (13,231) (65,973)
— non-controlling interests — IR (1,230) -
(14,461) (55,973)
HK$ HK$
&It BT
Loss per share: BREE 13
Basic and diluted BEARREE (0.06) (0.32)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HAMBHRRE
As at 31 December 2020
REF-TEH-A=t—
Noje 2020 2019
B = —E-%E —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#ET THET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ RENMRE 14 1,848 1,139
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 158 427
Goodwill EES 16 24,041 41,800
Interests in associates REEE AR 2R 17 4,758 4,947
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEF AR M2 ERE
other comprehensive income LB EE 18 30 931
Amount due from an investee company  fEU — IR & H & A RIFIA 19 578 538
Rental deposit Heke - 79
31,413 49,861
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories =4 20 582 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 MEMEWERR 21 7,543 3,754
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 22 7,061 5,520
15,186 9,274
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables Z o REMBENERER 24 14,270 15,042
Amounts due to associates AN SYNGIE /S 17 2,340 1,860
Convertible bonds payable B ESRIE 25 - 102,275
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 163 494
Tax payable e 1A 605 4,432
17,378 124,108
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFHE (2,192) (114,829)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRSER
LIABILITIES 29,221 (64,968)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEME
Amount due to a director of ERAAR —ZEERIA
the Company 30(a) 7,066 5,801
Amount due to a substantial shareholder Bt —& F ERE FUE 30(b) 11,252 9,203
Lease liabilities HEARE 26 - 163
18,318 15,167
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE (BR)F8 10,903 (80,135)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERGHE
Share capital [ 27 200,902 176,183
Reserves & 28 (191,798) (256,317)
Equity attributable/(capital deficiency) 742 T%’g*ﬁ/\lﬂﬁﬁé‘ J/
to owners of the Company (BEAREA) 9,104 (80,134)
Non-controlling interests G I 1,799 (1)
TOTAL EQUITY/ WL (BRBY)@E
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY) 10,903 (80,135)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these FEMi 2 st BRZ SR M EHRER 2 — 281D
consolidated financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of R-ZT-—F=-A=t+HAE=E=eH ERE

Directors on 30 March 2021. HEFEE o
Xie Xuan Feng Ke i BE
Director Director BFE EF

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HmERRSBERR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-F-TF A= ALEX

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATHEAELS
Issued Convertible Non-
share Share  Capital Translation Fair value bonds equity Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

TGS
EEfRE  RbER ASBRE ERRE ATEERE BhRE  RHER it EohER  RAGH
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000
TEL  TET  TEx  TAT  TER TR TEr TR TER  TER

As at 1 January 2019 RoE-RE-B-R 176183 SM3T1 26020 (3699 o091 G012 (24160) M @416
Loss for the year TEEFE - - - - - - (06,268 (66,268) - (56,268)
Other comprehensive income FEEEMZENE

for the year, net of tax nBHE - - - 133 162 - - 295 - 295
Total comprehensive loss for the year A& 2EEELE - - - 183 162 - (56268  (55,979) - 5979

As at 31 December 2019 and RoF-hE

at 1 January 2020 +ZR=t-Hk
S®-BE-B-B 76183 04371 26020 (3566) 162 3001 (58639  (80,134) M 013%)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (12,521)  (12,521) (1292 (13,813)
Other comprehensive loss FEEEMRERR
for the year, net of tax nBHE - - - (666) (44) - - (110) 62 (648)
Total comprehensive loss for the year A& 2EEELE - - - (666) (44) - (12521 (18231)  (1,230)  (14461)

Conversion of convertiole bonds BRuRRESARD
into shares (note 25) (FtzE25) 2479 80841 - - - (3,001) - 102,469 - 102469

Release of non-controlling interests i —HHBA A
upon deregistration of a subsidiary  #SFERER A - - - - - - - - 1 1

Acquisition of subsidiaries with non- ~ WEH B A&

controling interests FERER - - - - - - - - 3,029 3029
Disposal of financial assets at ERATEF AL
fair value through other FENE IBEE
comprehensive income - - - - (252) - 252 - - -
‘ As at 31 December 2020 e =53
| +zR=+-8 00002 35202 %00 (4282 (139 - OB 9104 1799 10903

g The accompanying notes form an integral part of these B2 TBRZEEAMERE 2 — 25 -
' consolidated financial statements.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBRSRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZHF+-_A=1+—RHLLFE
2020 2019
—T-8EF —TNHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHETT
CASH FLOWS FROM CETHELEZRSRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation BRBi AT 1R (13,208) (55,691)
Adjustments for: RATBIBFE -
Share of loss of associates DL E A REE 199 260
Interest income FEA (42) @)
Finance costs BhE B AR 574 9,509
Depreciation of property, YW BEMZEZITE
plant and equipment 405 297
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHRREEZINE 269 1,612
Dividend income A& B WA = (268)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment HERE LEEER 43 176
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 17,900 47,966
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR 2 W (4,822) (6,780)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries THENB AR Z BB 3 -
Loss on lease termination RIFTHEZBE = 332
Written off of trade receivables WisHE 2 AR - 162
Written off of other receivables 88 LAt B AR 3R 61 -
Written off of plant and equipment R = K 7% 9 -
Operating cash flows before changes LEESEHRIZ
in working capital KERSRE 1,391 (2,427)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 & EAh FE U AR SR
other receivables (3gm), (10,959) 26,167
Increase in inventories FEIEM (582) -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 N E A e BR SR
other payables #on, G 6,536 (25,519)
Cash used in operations CEFTAZIR® (3,614) (1,775)
Income tax paid B FTEH = (46)
Interest received EFE 2 2
Net cash used in operating activities CEEEMAZIR S FE (3,612) (1,819)
TEIMNEE(ZER)ER AR “ECTHEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTMER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

2020 2019
—BCBFE —T—hF
HK$000  HK$'000
F#EIT FETT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEEHELEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow from acquisition of Ue B — T B A A
a subsidiary (Note 34) ZIREMAFEE(FI5E34) 22 -
Net cash outflows on disposal of HEHBARZIRSE
subsidiaries (Note 33) i 588 (MHEES3) = (11)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BE&
plant and equipment RIEN TS IE 9 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB - WE R&E (883) 2)
Advances to associates Bl NS E-E (10) (5)
Dividend received A= - 268
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing 18 &E& (FrA),EAEZ
activities R /H5E (862) 250
CASH FLOWS FROM REEHELEZHESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advance from a director of the Company  FEUWW A QAT —RESHIE 1,128 3,093
Net advance from/(repayment to) Al (BE)—REBWRE
a substantial shareholder FNIEFEE 4,898 (2,500)
Advances from associates i l/NE = 480 499
Lease liabilities repayment HEBEENK (494) (791)
Interest paid for lease liabilities MEBGEENTE (39) (140)
Net cash generated from financing activities Bi&;EBE 4 2N & %58 5,973 161
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH R&RIR&ZEMEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (iBL)iF8E 1,499 (1,408)
EFFECTS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgsHzie
RATE CHANGES 42 (61)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REVZEERESEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5,520 6,989
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZRERINEZEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 7,061 5,520

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBRSRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING EFiI&EEEFIESBRBZHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

TRFNAEEREETPFELAGB S
(BRERS MRS E) - RELTHMEL
BEDREREEL(IRKBECRENE)
RAKEGERERERTOESBRE LD
FRELRSREZAE -

Amount Total
due to Amount liabilities
Amounts a director dueto  Convertible from
due to ofthe  asubstantial bonds Lease financing
associates Company  shareholder payable liabilities activities
feft feft HEEY
EfEE  $08-% -%i% T gk
ATRE ESAE RFEHE k% HEafR BfREH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tén i i Thn Tén
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF-A-H 1,361 2,117 17,306 93,568 3,160 118,111
Financing cash flow BARENE 499 3,003 (2,500) - (931) 161
Interest expenses FlERT - - 662 8,707 140 9,509
New leases entered STUARE - - - - 540 540
Lease termination (Note) RIFRE (W) - - - - (2,244) (2,244)
Exchange adjustments EREE - 9 - - ® (17)
Set off with trade receivables 1B E HEUEH - - (6,264) - - (6,264)
At 31 December 2019and ~ RZE-NE
at 1 January 2020 t-B=1-8R
“E-EE-f-H 1,860 5,801 9,203 102,275 057 119,796
Financing cash flow BEELTE 480 1,128 4,898 - (533) 5,073
Interest expenses MERY - - 3 194 39 574
Conversion of convertible ERTARESBRN
bonds into shares - - - (102,469) - (102,469)
Exchange adjustments 5 AR - 187 - - - 137
Set off with trade receivables 1B E 5 EWE - - (9,972) - - (9,972)
Set off with other payables B EMERE - - 6,782 - - 6,782
At 31 December 2020 R-E-%F
t-A=1-H 2,340 7,066 11,252 - 163 20,821
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group Wit : HE-_ZT—hE+_A=+—HILEE -

and the lessors have mutually agreed to early terminate
certain lease contracts.

REBEBAAETRERKIETHE

a8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

1.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

CORPORATION INFORMATION

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
corporate information section of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the
presentation and functional currency of the Company.
The functional currency of the subsidiaries of the
Company mainly include Renminbi (‘RMB”) and HK$.
All values are rounded to nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are investment
holdings, provision of business consultation services,
and private investment fund management services,
provision of traditional media and internet media
content production management services and
media content design services, provision of internet
development and maintenance services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”);
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”);
and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“CO”). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that the Group has incurred losses
for number of years and a net loss of HK$13,813,000
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and as of
that date, the Group’s net current liabilities as of 31
December 2020 amounted to HK$2,192,000.

In order to improve the Group’s financial position,
to provide liquidity and cashflows and to sustain the
Group’s as a going concern, the management has
taken and/or will take the following measures:

()  The Group is taking measures to tighten cost
controls over various operating costs and
expenses with the aim to attain profitable and
positive cash flow operation;

(i)  The Group has negotiated and agreed with
Asian Dynamics International Limited (“ADIL”),
the substantial shareholder of the Company to
provide a 18-month stand-by credit facility of
HK$20,000,000 to the Company; and

(i)  ADIL has agreed to provide continuing financial
support to the Group to meet its liabilities as they
fall due.

The directors of the Company considered that, upon
obtaining the abovementioned stand-by facilities,
the Group will have sufficient cash resources
to satisfy its future working capital and other
financing requirement. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company considered that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The stand-by facility of
HK$20,000,000 from ADIL has been granted to the
Company on 24 March 2021.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

REEEE)
RRBTE M BEHRRE ERAEBED
RETFEELEBE  AHE—_T—-F
F+ZA=+—HIEFE  FAEEEE
A E518)F%813,813,0008 7T © MELE#%
B ANEEBR-_ZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—
BHRE BE 552,192,000 7T °

AREARENHFRR  REEDE
S RASR - AR H AR B RE
% EREEDR/ LGSR T
6 -

() AEBERDBEESREERAR
B Sz PR A E B HE B - LAZEER A& A
KBRS RE

(i) AEEDEAQFEEZRRAsan
Dynamics International Limited
(ADILD)AEYEE - mARA]
R it —%20,000,0007% 7T /& B 18
BAANBREERE &

(i) ADILEREAAXEBEREFEN
BXiE - EEIHEE -

RAARZEEZRARE LlERmER -
REBBEZRRESERMBEREKE
BESREMMBEE - AL AQF
EERAEFECAEERERANS
HARBINE - KAADILHZERRE
20,000,000 TE R T - —F=A
ZHHEARTAEARFR -

BERMASERMETRARER
SR HE B R A A IR ATER AR 2 F
IR 2 BRBM B RERER - &R A
MBHmAMERBABCRNAEFLRA
MBRERBRIVRNERAZEEARER
Mz BRMSIZBE M MATEEHEZ
SRR EREMERH 2 ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 3. FEREEIIEHUTEEE%EA

56

HKFRSs

(a)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

(a)

TR A B3 H A B B ISR T F i it
BHREEA

REAFE  AEBERERER
BRI AERMBNCEBH B HRE
ER R E B EAER Z R (1B 7]
ANDEATEIETNEBH RS
A HRZT-TF—A—B%
IR PR H) FE B R B AR - B
DA B4R & M F5 K

Amendments to Definition of Material BEEHEREY EANTR
HKAS 1 and REBGIHER
HKAS 8 F8R (AR

Amendments to Definition of a Business BRI BREED ERNTER
HKFRS 3 EREACCHES

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark EEREREER FIREEYE

HKFRS 9, HKAS Reform

39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 3. [EREEIIEHMBREEA
HKFRSs (Cont’d) (&)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue (b)
but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following

E AR & B ET RAEERT
FEMBREER
AEBEIW KRBT EAUTEBMME

new and amendments to HKFRSs that have MARAE R E] REIET BB I

been issued but are not yet effective: WG AR

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the ERUEREEN  RRAOK

related Amendments' EATH il 15N

Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent EEBRREED  COVID-19FEL
HKFRS 16 Concessions* F1655 (7 A) Meme

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual BRI BREED BEafESR 2 frie
HKFRS 3 Framework? FIR(BIA)

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark BRI BREES FIREENE—
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,  Reform - Phase 2° F95%  Hhes FERES

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16
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F28% (BT A) EEyE

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities EReES| BENBERHY

HKAS 1 as Current or Non-current 1% (BFTR) ErBREER
and related amendments to B55%5(2020)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Z g
(2020)!
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 3. [EHEEBIIEEMBHREE

HKFRSs (Cont’d) (%)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue (b) EMEMENRERBITREEET
but not yet effective (Cont’d) §;§Hﬁa‘§$ﬁ%$ﬂ“( &
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after R -—=F—F—A% 1%
1 January 20238. IRHFEE R AR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 2 prA == = e = - A F -
1 January 2022. IRHFEE R AR -
® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 3 FEBEs 2 BRABFE R
a date to be determined. AR o
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 4 RIE-_ZEFEA—Bx &M
1 June 2020. YR E)EFE BRI AR
° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 5 R-E-—F—A—HB® 2 %EH
1 January 2021. IR FEEHARAENR -
The directors of the Company anticipate that the RNATIEETEEERAMA S A5
application of all other new and amendments SRR 2 FE] MAERT AR A] B
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on RASHEEMERFTEKNERNF
the consolidated financial statements in the 2 o

foreseeable future.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXEHHE
The consolidated financial statements have been FEAMBEHRERDNIBES S A28
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by oo BEIERELBGEE o AN 45
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial A EREWEEGEM TR B & A K
statements include applicable disclosures required by BIFT 4R F 2 i A ER o

the GEM Listing Rules and by the CO.

The consolidated financial statements have been MRS eHBERL - S5 BR
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain KIVIRFE RN E B - R RE
financial instruments that are measured at fair values HRZEAFESAEZETHBE I AR
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the G o

accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

EXETBR(E)
B 52 A — AR LA SO R R T S BB
BOATFEREE -

RNFERRGFERNHE2EERNE
KFRSZTHEEEMBRAERAE
PR TR ETE - MAmRER SR EER
BRIUSHAERREMEETT AR
REFEEXRENRTFER - A&E
EERREME2EENAERHHE
EXRBEEERMEENEERAEDN
Frf - RREEEMBERETPIEFE
R/ SBERROATE R EERE
o ERBEAWHREERE 165K
MEERZHRIN - Bt EHQFEMNE
EFE—ERUZEELIFAFE - Fi
mEAEFENFERFEN A #IRF
H BB GFHERIFE 365 E ERE A
BfE -

M B EEN R FEFEAFT RMIHZ
HERARAREERZEEERRE
A% ARZEELE T HRARER
AZEEERSRERENEMTS2H
E o PTEEMEERE

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER

59




-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,

2 or

3 based on the degree to which the inputs

to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date;

° assets (or disposal groups) that are
classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that
standard; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

° lease liabilities are recognised and
measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis
specified in another HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Business combinations (Cont’d)

When the consideration transferred by the
Group in a business combination includes a
contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition- date fair value and included as
part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively with the corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when
the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business
combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash- generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently when there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the profit or loss on
disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described in note
4(e).

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position (see
note 35) at cost less impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an
associate are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an
associate used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Appropriate
adjustments are made to conform the
associate’s accounting policies to those of the
Group. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Interests in associates (Cont’d)

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if
a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

(f)

Interests in associates (Cont’d)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Leasehold land and buildings which are held for
own use would continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 16 and would be stated at cost and
are amortised over the period of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f)

(9)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease term of 54

and buildings years
Leasehold 20%—-33% or over the
improvement remaining lease terms,

whichever is shorter
Furniture and 19%-50%
fixtures
Computer and
equipment
Motor vehicles

19%-33%

20%-33%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use asset other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment, and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets other
than goodwill (Cont’d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that
equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-TF+-_A=+—HILFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 4. BEXEstEBE (&)
(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d) (i) MBIRE)
Financial assets (Cont’d) BBEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Cont’d)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that is required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised
cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(i

Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve; and
are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other
revenue and net income” line item in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, deposits and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
() Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

(ih

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)
The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
() Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont’d)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over 2
years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:
° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EBEX=E:tBik(Z)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d) (i) BMEBIRE)
Financial assets (Cont’d) BIEBEE)
Derecognition of financial assets AR A E
The Group derecognises a financial asset only REFBEREERESREZENRE
when the contractual rights to the cash flows FfEm A R I FERB A E

from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured AR FER AR AT 2N
at amortised cost, the difference between BER EEFDEED W REIK
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of RBEM 7 ZBRIBREPEDR -

the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity R TER AR EBRA VIR EREE
instrument which the Group has elected on RBRAVES AR M EUESE
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the SMRATEIZEE LR AT
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated EEEIF Y 2 RERBETS
in the fair value reserve is not reclassified to profit EFHETIEZ  MeEBREZE
or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses. E1E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL
when the financial liability is (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 appilies, (i) held
for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HIFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 4. BEXEstBE (&)
() Financial instruments (Cont’d) (i) HMBEIRE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d) HEEERIBA(E)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Cont’d) N FEEFA BB E & (&
A financial liability is held for trading if: ETAERTHEBERSEAR

EEE :

o it has been acquired principally for the

purpose of repurchasing it in the near term;
or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative
that is a financial guarantee contract
or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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A financial liability other than a financial liability
held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:
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such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a
group of financial assets or financial
liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the
Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9
permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Cont’d)

For financial liabilities that are designated as
at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in OCI, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities
that contain embedded derivatives, such as
convertible bonds, the changes in fair value
of the embedded derivatives are excluded in
determining the amount to be presented in OCI.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk that are recognised in OCI
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss;
instead, they are transferred to accumulated
losses upon derecognition of the financial
liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to associates, a director
of the Company and a substantial shareholder,
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible bonds
are classified separately as financial liabilities
and equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
A conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring
the fair value of similar liability that does not have
an associated equity component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)
Convertible bonds (Cont’d)

A conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the
liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is
recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as
equity will remain in equity until the conversion
option is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the conversion
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly in equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i)

)

(k)

U]

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade receivables are expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short-
term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 4. BEXEstBE (&)
() Revenue from contracts with customers () ZER&EHWEE)
(Cont’d)
Control is transferred over time and revenue Y R AT IS Y — - Bl 4 #EpE
is recognised over time by reference to the B mER R NESREE RS
progress towards complete satisfaction of the MEREDR AR EBRBRETLE
relevant performance obligation if one of the KB ETaEE

following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

(i)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

General management and consultancy
fee is recognised over the period
specified in the contract, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

The transaction price received in advance
is recognised as a contract liability on initial

o EFEEAREELRRNK
B o R A0 4Rt
BRI

s HEAKHENK AEEHE
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MR - X
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recognition and is released to profit or loss B ITARGSEHBIZES
on a straight-line basis over the period of SEETE o

service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
() Revenue from contracts with customers

(Cont’d)

(i)  For media service income, the Group
considers the performance obligation is
the management of business accounts on
various electronic business platforms for
customers and the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

(i)  For software development, the Group
considers the performance obligation is the
development of application program and
the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time at which the control of the
program is passed to the customers.

For management service income, the
Group considers the performance
obligation is the software maintenance
service and the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

(iv) Sales of goods are recognised at a point in
time when the customers accept and take
the control of the goods.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Hez=-FT

4.

=T .

BIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, bonuses, paid leaves and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Retirement benefits schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
are members of central pension schemes
operated by the local governments in
the PRC and these subsidiaries make
mandatory contributions to these central
pension schemes to fund the employees’
retirement benefits. The retirement
contributions paid by the PRC subsidiaries
are based on certain percentages of the
employees’ salaries in accordance with
the relevant regulations in the PRC, and
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits upon payment of
the retirement contributions to the central
pension schemes operated by the local
governments in the PRC.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (“the MPF Scheme”),
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-TFI-A=t-BLFE
EXEBRE)
(m) EEEHE)
(iii) LR A0

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d) 4,
(m) Employee benefits (Cont’d)
(iii) Share-based payments

The fair value of the share options granted
to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in
a share-based payment reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is
included in profit or loss for the year of
the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payment reserve.
On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payment reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the share-based
payment reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to
accumulated losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m)

(n)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably
commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o)

(p)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Government grants relating to
compensation of expenses are deducted from
the related expenses, other government grants
are presented under “other revenue and net
income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit/(loss) as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period.
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Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(p) Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to
the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current tax and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or
arising from business combinations on or after
the date of initial application or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.
As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio
basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of related
premises that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

(a)

the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

4.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Annual Report 2020

4,

EXETBR(E)

(a)

-G P)

FEEEBRBEA (E)

HEEXL
HHERATER - AEEEEHEE
B ER—HEBNHEEARK :

o XEEMBBIENMNER IR
KZIAMEBEEENRMNEAX
HESHE: &

o MEMRERLN - MBI E
BHERSEBEAHENE
BER  MERRREES
HNBERBRAMYEBER
ETOEESRE -

AAES—HEBHEAKRNEE
EHms » AEBERERENRE
M H BB RT REIR RBRIREIER]
HEMREHOZEREEHES -
EXNtEHERE -

AEBEBERBEREEEFD
HERABRARSNAEHERE -
M ERANEE —HEEAK
DA —IA A ERRSME B S I
Sk - RIREEREBEREH
RER Y Z AEEE S ERS MIFHE M
REB Y 2 A EH B EREEREE
HAENREDEEE S REEHEKE

N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r)

(s)

®)

Contingent liabilities

Present obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot
be measured with sufficient reliably. Possible
obligations that arises from past events and
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as a contingent
liability unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except
for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

t)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that year, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
translation reserve as a separate component of
equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EBEX=E:tBik(Z)

(t) Foreign currencies (Cont’d) (t) sMEE(E)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to FBUEE N ERS I R A 3 R E
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities ENEAENBEOEELAFER
assumed through acquisition of a foreign B E BN ESNEER AR
operation are treated as assets and liabilities RIB - IR MEERNOBTEER
of that foreign operation and translated at the BhE FMEFNERZENEMS
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each B ESTER ©

reporting period. Exchange differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(u) Related parties (v FEANL
A related party is a person or an entity that is B AT AEAKERFRBENAT
related to the Group, as follows: s ERE ¢
(a) A person, or a close member of that @ HXALHRALREZEOR
person’s family, is related to the Group if REBRAEEER  BIIZA
that person: AT
()  has control or joint control over the ()  BEAESI S RZE S
Group; KEZRES
(i) has significant influence over the (i) HEAEEBEMEATE
Group; or A=
(i) is a member of the key management (i) RAKEIAEE
personnel of the Group or a parent of RAIZEEZEERREA
the Group; g8

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(u) Related parties (Cont’d)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are the
members of the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint
venture of other entity (or an associate
or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a
member);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vij the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(viil a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of the
parent of the entity);

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(v)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources and
assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, management has
made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value. The determination
of the useful lives and residual values involve
management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual value and the useful life
of the property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate,
such a difference may impact the depreciation in
the year when the estimate is changed and the
future period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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5.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

ToA=+—BLEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the
value in use or fair value less costs to disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating units and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31
December 2020 was HK$24,041,000 (2019:
HK$41,800,000). During the year 2020,
impairment loss of HK$17,900,000 (2019:
HK$47,966,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 16.

Fair value measurement and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. In estimating the fair value of a
financial instrument, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that
include inputs that are not based on observable
market data to estimate the fair value of
certain types of financial instruments. Notes
18 and 31(c) provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair
value of various financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for the trade receivables. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and
the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in
notes 31(b)(ii) and 21 respectively.

Controlover 1 F = (E M ) HR AT
(transliterated as Bohu Holdings (Guangzhou)
Company Limited) ("Bohu Holdings") and its
subsidiaries

Notes 34 and 36 describe that Bohu Holdings
and its subsidiaries (“Group of Bohu Holdings”)
are subsidiaries of the Group as the Group
has 51% ownership interest of Bohu Holdings
and Bohu Holdings has around 51% to 52%
ownership interest of its subsidiaries including
EINE T2 AR A A (transliterated as
Guangzhou Bohu Business School Company
Limited) (“Bohu Business School”) who is
principal engaged in internet media services.

The directors of the Company assessed whether
the Group has control over the Group of Bohu
Holdings based on whether the Group has
practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the Group of Bohu Holdings unilaterally. In
making the judgement, the directors of the
Company considered the Group has 51% equity
interest in Bohu Holdings and has ability to direct
the relevant activities in Bohu Holdings, therefore
the Group also has ability to direct the relevant
activities of subsidiaries of Bohu Holdings
through Bohu Holdings as Bohu Holdings owns
more than 50% equity interests of its subsidiaries
and the decisions about the relevant activities of
the Group of Bohu Holdings only require simple
majority vote. After assessment, the directors
of the Company concluded that the Group has
sufficient dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of the Group of Bohu Holdings
and therefore the Group has control over the
Group of Bohu Holdings.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME 6.

(@ An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is

Wz - Hiburzm RN FEEE
@ AEEFRUEHTOT :

as follows:
2020 2019
—EB-®E —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Consultancy income EERUW A 13,493 13,608
Media service income IR AR AU A 535 -
Sales income HEWA 114 -
Software development and BHRER
maintenance service income HEE RIS UA 212 4,390
14,354 17,998
Timing of revenue recognition RIS 7 e
A point of time —{ERE R 2, 114 4175
Over time —ERBER AN 14,240 13,823
14,354 17,998

(b)  An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and net

b) AEEFAHMBUERBAFED

income for the year is as follows: RN
2020 2019
—EBZ|E —ET—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
Other income Hup A - 21

Dividend income from financial KERAFEFAEMEE
assets at FVTOCI WEMMBEEZ

& B A - 268
Interest income SN ON 2 2
Other interest income H b F) B Uz A 40 -
Government grants I8 e B 212 -
254 291

The government grants mainly relate to wage
support from the government in Hong Kong.
Under the conditions of the grants, the Group
is required to retain its local employees even if
business is affected by the COVID-19 outbreak.

Other interest income of the Group is arising
from the amount due from an investee company.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segment information reported to the chief operating
decision maker, directors of the Company, is the
type of services rendered by the Group’s operating
division for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment. The Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

The Group is currently organised into two major
business divisions:

()  private investment fund management and
consultancy services, internet and software
development and maintenance services
(“Consultancy Services”); and

(i)  traditional media and internet media content
production services and media content design
services (“Media Services”).

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment
on the following bases:

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales in the year.

Segment results represent the profit/loss incurred by
each segment without allocation of corporate income
and expense, central administration cost, directors’
salaries, share of results of associates, certain
interest income, other income, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries, finance costs and income tax expense.

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets other than interests in associates,
financial assets at FVTOCI, amount due from an
investee company and corporate assets.

Segment liabilities include current liabilities other
than convertible bonds payable, amounts due to
associates, amount due to a substantial shareholder,
amount due to a director of the Company, tax payable
and corporate liabilities.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

SEREF
RARERIFERAMAETELER
BA HARRESR  2WMZHHEHR
TEARBEEES R REZRBER D
B TXEINAKRBEREBEEEVBRE
ERFEBHRRE 2 EERAZ WD AP -

AEBEBAEAMATEXH S

() RAREESERNERRSE &
B8 e B 5 3 B e R AR % ([ R
w51 &

(i) EREBEREBRERRBATRER
B REBARRIRS ([ HER
%1 e

shat (0 BF R IR R 2 & 2 A 2 B IR
5 AKREZERTREEARZAT
HEERRASHOMN 2 %E BER
E .

DEBR SRR B IR EF 2 Wt o I
RERHEDFHEHE -

DEHEERRSDBMEE BN,
BRIARDEARTWARFS ~ RRTT
BRA  BEHD  BEBERRZE
B BETHEWA - EfUA - HEW
BAmME  BEXKNARMAEHA
¥ o

NHEEBRMAEEEE  BVEE
NRBEE  WRBERRNER 1R
NPEFAEMEAREZPBEEE
EH—RREHURRBFBRRAEE
RO

DEBEBRRENABRES - BT
BRAEIFIA - BN —BEERENEA
ENARB—REEHAE  BHREAR
RABENINZRBRIE

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER




114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)
(a) Segment revenues and results

SEREH(E)
(a) SEBUIEE RS

2020
—T°%E
Consultancy Media

Services Services Total

BRI RS REEAR TS “ct

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ERT F#ERT T#ERT

Consultancy income BRBA 13,493 = 13,493
Media service income ERRBWA = 535 535
Sales income EERA - 114 114

Software development and FHRER

maintenance service income HERBUA - 212 212
Segments revenue D EpUR AR 13,493 861 14,354
Segments results DEPELR (7,059) (3,142) (10,201)
Interest income FEMA 1
Other income HA U A 213
Unallocated corporate expenses & DB AR (7,270)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEK B A BH IS 4,822
Share of loss of associates FE(L B & N B) 2 18 (199)
Finance costs BB AR (574)
Income tax expense FTiSHiA Y (605)
Loss for the year REEEIE (13,813)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. DEBEE(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (Cont’d) (a) DEUERELE(E)
2019
—T-NF
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
T AR 7 KRR fet

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET AT

Consultancy income BEREWA 13,608 - 13,608
Software development and BB

maintenance service income HEFEARTEIA 4,390 - 4,390
Segments revenue oE 17,998 - 17,998
Segments results DEELE (44,214) (4,338) (48,552)
Interest income FLBUA 2
Unallocated corporate expenses A2 B A FF 2 (4,152)
Gain on disposal HEWBAFIM

of subsidiaries Wz 6,780
Share of loss of associates it NG ol (260)
Finance costs BE KA (9,509
Income tax expenses F5Ri A > (577)
Loss for the year REZEIE (56,268)

THAEERBRAT T -TEER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. PEEEE)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) HBEERERE
2020
—%-%%
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
R RS REEARTS “ct

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET FHET

Segments assets DEEE 29,082 4,936 34,018
Unallocated assets KOBLEE 7,215
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAFEFAEMER
Wk M EE 30

Amount due from an M — R E

investee company HERARKA 578
Interests in associates NN i 4,758
Consolidated assets HAEBE 46,599
Segment liabilities DEEE 2,748 4,585 7,333
Unallocated liabilities AN arE 7,100
Tax payable AN 605
Amounts due to associates AN YNEIEE] 2,340
Amount due to a substantial B —REEREFIE

shareholder 11,252
Amount due to a director of the BN AAR—RZEEHE

Company 7,066
Consolidated liabilities mAAaE 35,696
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

SEREH(E)
(b) SBAEREMEE)

2019
—T-NEF
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
A AR TS 1B AR K BEr
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT FAT
Segments assets DEEE 52,640 79 52,719
Unallocated assets DEEE -
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEGFAHMEE
Wk M EE 931
Amount due from an M — R E
investee company HERARKA 538
Interests in associates NN i 4,947
Consolidated assets HEEE 59,135
Segment liabilities DEBE 3,651 8,665 12,316
Unallocated liabilities A arE 3,383
Tax payable AN 4,432
Amounts due to associates AR = NEIF- R 1,860
Covertible bonds payable AR ES 102,275
Amount due to a substantial EN—RETEREE
shareholder 9,203
Amount due to a director of the JENAAT —REEHIA
Company 5,801
Consolidated liabilities mERE 139,270
THAERIERAT  —F-TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

il

ToA=+—BLEFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. DEBEE(E)
(c) Other segment information (c) EHihsEBEHR
2020
i i 3 3
Consultancy Media
Services Services
FER AR TS 1R BE AR TS
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT
Capital expenditure BEARRX - 808
Depreciation of property, WE - BB MRE
plant and equipment e — 372
Loss on disposal of plant and HEmME k&i#E 2 EBE
equipment = 43
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 17,900 -
Written off of other receivables Hi S5 L 8 LUK AR SR 58 =
2019
—E-NEF
Consultancy Media
Services Services
RE R RS B RS
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Capital expenditure BARRX 2 -
Depreciation of property, Y - BE REZE
plant and equipment ZIE 56 241
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 926 686
Loss on disposal of plant and TEMEMREZEE
equipment 176 -
Impairment loss on goodwill R EE R 47,966 -

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by

SEBEE(E)
(d) HIEREF

AEBZEBETBZURTERE

7 o

AEBZWHVE S D 2 IR

geographical location is detailed below: WERFEIBAT ¢
2020 2019
o
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T FHET
PRC F 14,354 17,998
Hong Kong BE 5 -

The Group’s information about its non-current
assets (excluding financial instruments) by
geographical location is detailed below:

AEBRMWHMEE D ZIFRBDE
E(TBREMBIA)FBNT

2020 2019

—EBCEFE —ThHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FAETT

PRC s 1,989 1,127
Hong Kong 55 26,063 44,443
28,052 45,570

THAEERBRAT T -TEER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d) 7. DEEE(E)
(e) Information about major customers (e) BRAXEEERZE&EH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding RIEBERERN  REBEREE Z W
periods individually contributing over 10% of the m(EAREFBAWKZEBIBE10%) 10
total revenue of the Group are as follows: T
2020 2019
—BI¥E _—_TNF
Segment HK$’000 HK$’000
EB FHET FAET
Customer A Consultancy Services 12,912 12,711
BEFA 1 AR 755
Customer B Consultancy Services - 4,175
%FB AR AR 75
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RIEMAF
2020 2019

—B-®E —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBL TR

Interest on amount due to JENARR—RBEEZRE

a substantial shareholder of FIB 2 FE

the Company 341 662
Imputed interest expenses eI RES 2 M E

on convertible bonds payable =N 194 8,707
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 39 140

574 9,509
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRBiRIESE
The Group’s loss before taxation has been arrived at REE BB ATER KNG 5 &8

after charging: #®5E

2020 2019
—B-®% —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBL TR

Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA(TBIEESHH)

remuneration)

— wages, salaries and other benefits — T& « #a N HAET 2,937 4,012

— retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIFT B

contributions 129 233

Auditor’s remuneration ZEET 2 900 1,000
Cost of inventories recognised WRART 2 FEKAK

as an expense 79 -

ME - BELREITE

Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 405 297
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 269 1,612
Short-term lease expenses REHEERX 333 171
Legal and professional fees FEREXEEA 2,323 1,428
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREE R 17,900 47,966
Written off of trade receivables s E 5 EINEER - 162

SNEE (B ARAT

“ECTEER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 10. EE R &S N
REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) ESFEM
The details of emoluments of each director are BEEZNEeFBWT

shown below:

Year ended 31 December 2020 HFE—F-—FF+—H=+—HI
5
As directors As management
ERESE EREEE

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefits

and other scheme

benefits contributions
Fees #i& EMR BKEF Total
Name of director ESnZ e Hit @ BN 4t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$°000
FET TET TET FET

Executive directors: HITES .

Mr. Xie Xuan HELE 540 - - 540

Dr. Feng Ke BEHEL 504 - - 504

Mr. Liao Haifei BaREE 80 - - 80

Mr. Huang Haitao EFELE 80 - - 80

Independent non- BiUkpiTES:

executive directors:

Mr. Wu Jixue RSB E 30 - - 30

Mr. Zheng Hongliang LAy 18 - - 18

Dr. Wang VYi T8®EL 36 - - 36
1,288 - - 1,288

All of the above directors’ remuneration are e LitZESHM8RETER

recorded as accruals and other payables. REMERERR

There was no arrangement under which HEZZ-_FTF+-_A=+—AH1F

a director waived or agreed to waive any FE HMECALHERGEESR

remuneration during the year ended 31 EXREREATTHN(ZZ—N

December 2020 (2019: Nil). Fm)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Cont’d)

Year ended 31 December 2019

HE-T-TF

10. EERESHWN(E)

(a) EFEFHM(E)

ToA=+—HLEFE

BE-F-NFL+-A=+—HI

FE
As directors As management
ERES EREIRE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits  contributions
Fees %& 2R RIKEF Total
Name of director ERE e HMER RN 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FHET THT
Executive directors: BITEE:
Mr. Xie Xuan WE x4 540 - - 540
Mr. Qiu Yue (Note) Bt () - - - -
Dr. Feng Ke BREL 504 - - 504
Mr. Liao Haifei BEREE 107 - - 107
Mr. Huang Haitao FEEEE 107 - - 107
Independent non- BikpiTEs:
executive directors:
Mr. Wu Jixue MESRE 30 - - 30
Mr. Zheng Hongliang LAy 18 - - 18
Dr. Wang Vi T#iEL 36 - - 36
1,342 - - 1,342
Note:  Retired on 27 June 2019. fizx: HRZE—AFSAZ++tH

RIE -

SNEE (B ARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE
10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the
year included two (2019: two) directors whose
remuneration is set out in directors’ remuneration
in (a) above. Details of remuneration of the

10. EERESHWN(E)

(b) AEfiRBEFHES
FR - AUREHEE T BEMU
“TNF - ML)EE - EHM
BN EX(@BRE=HB— -
HBR=((ZT—NF : =1)¥FE

remaining three (2019: three) non-director EREEVHMHEBLT
employees are as follows:
2020 2019
—EB-®FE —TNHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and e EEREMEF
other benefits 898 1,075
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFI R8I 3R
contributions 24 28
922 1,103
Their emoluments fell within the following band: BEZMENFIATEHE :
2020 2019
—EB-BFE —T—NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FiIBHBIHAX

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) NEtEBEREMEZEWERZE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive BHb

income represents:

2020 2019
—B-¥F -T 0%
HK$’000 HK$’000

F#EIT FET

Current tax — PRC Enterprise BNHAFR B — R B {3

Income Tax Frig®i

Under provision in prior year SR FEEBRETRE - 46
Current tax — Hong Kong BVHATRE I8 — &/

Profits Tax FEH

Charge for the year KEERHX 605 531
Income tax expense TSR X 605 577

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year
(2019: 25%).

R-E—N\F=A=-+—H FE
RS BIB(2ONTERBUHER)(E
THR)VEDIEZRYTEZE]) - A3l A
FISHMEH - ERRZT—N\F
— AT NBEEERAEER - I
REBTIE - RABBMAEST
AEREBETEE H2,000,000%E T
B3 FI 35 12 8.25% B B R B 7R
i 2 382,000,000 7T K3 A 1% 3%
16.5% LM - THERSHE
FIS B AR ) 79 55 (B B B A 35 1
BT E — B RA6.5%EF »

Eit - 6EREBMERE 2 EEHNE
3 Jh 5k & 2,000,000 7T 51 FE 3%
T FI%8.25% i KAt E - MiRA
2,000,000 T My (& 51 B 2R B o 7
BIIZ16.5% R+ HE -

F LT FER TG F1225% 89 T
K ERBECEMBR(ZZE—A
F:25%) °

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d) 11. FiBBIHAZ(Z)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense (b) FEHAXHEGSEZEREMBEE
and accounting loss per the consolidated WS REREARESEzEE
statement of profit or loss and other BiEZ $BRINTF :

comprehensive income at applicable tax
rates is as follows:

2020 2019
—B-%FE -—T 0%
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Loss before taxation bR A E 1B (13,208) (55,691)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, ZRRIE R EER ~

calculated at the rates applicable Sm 2 EAME

to profit/loss in the jurisdictions MAEFE R EEB:TE 2

concerned HBERBIE (2,526) (9,128)
Income not subject to tax BEREHB WA (831) (1,659)
Expenses not deductible for tax TEEMT 2 X

purpose 3,107 10,031
Deductible temporary difference not  RFER 0] F1 & A5 = %8

recognised 19 47
Unused tax loss not recognised RIERAREBFIEEE 1,500 1,420
Utilisation of tax losses previously EALAI AR

not recognised MIEE 18 (479) (15)
Tax relief for the year FRZBHIBEER (20) -
Income tax at concessionary rate BRI EFE 2 EH (165) (165)
Under-provision in prior year SR FERETT = 46
Income tax expense for the year FRZAABHRALZ 605 577
At the end of the reporting period, the Group RMEPR AEBEEBERDH
has unused tax losses of approximately TR TE E5 18 4942,335,0008 7T (=
HK$42,335,000 (2019: HK$37,312,000), T — 4 37,312,000 0 ) -
of which tax loss arising in the PRC is HPRhBEEEZHEBEEAY
approximately HK$15,275,000 (2019: 15,275,000 8 L ( Z & — L4 -
HK$10,472,000), available for offsetting against 10,472,000/ 7T) + A A{EE AR
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been HOEF o BHRERER KRR E
recognised in respect of such unused tax losses ZANRITE RN T 5| BUE B R EV R T
due to the unpredictability of future profits TEHBEMNRERIBERE
streams.
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11.

12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s remaining
unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC will expire
in the following years:

11.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE
FiRBiBEX (&)
RZE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—H ~5E
RAPBIEEZ 8 T ARERHIBBREFR
T B

2020 2019

k- et =3 3 —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

2021 -4 538 507
2022 —E-— 1,199 1,129
2023 - 1,739 1,638
2024 —T—pE 7,643 7,198
2025 —E-RE 4,156 -
15,275 10,472

Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of HK$74,000
(2019: HK$185,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividends for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

12.

Hibgr iR s & SR ML -

RMEER  AEEBRBAINAERE
BE74,0008 7L (= — L4 : 185,000/
7o) o BB AT R E R EEER
BERIBEE - RARERBRFKT
ANATRE RIEHE S I IR BT RS 258 -

k2
EETRARBE_T-_TF+ A
S+ -BLEFEERFEFRE(ZE
—NEFE) -

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BikEsE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) SEEXEE
The calculations of the basic loss per share are FIRERNER JYIRE A T &E LT
based on the following data: e
2020 2019
—ETHE —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAETT
Loss attributable to owners of RAEEA AL
the Company E51E (12,521) (56,268)
2020 2019
—T-FF —T-NF
Weighted average number of R+—_A=+—H2
ordinary shares at 31 December TR NI
(Note) (B&E) 200,361,724 176,182,556
Note: The comparative figures for number of Bzt : sTEEREBZRNEE AL
shares for the purpose of loss per share were REFURBRERG &0 (EE
calculated to reflect the share consolidation (as BFE27) - BEBRODE R
defined in note 27) on the assumption that the LB -
share consolidation had been effective in the
prior period.
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) SiKEEESE
For the year ended 31 December 2020, no HE-Z-_FTF+-_A=-+—AH1t
diluted loss per share was presented as there FE - BEEBTELLTEER W
were no potential ordinary shares in issue. WY GREFEIE
For the year ended 31 December 2019, diluted HE-Z—NF+-A=+—8H1t
loss per share is same as basic loss per share FE - BRESEEIENE X ATie
detailed above because the only potential BREXREEER - TTHERE—/
dilutive share is convertible bonds issued by the BEEEER () AR AR BITH AR
Company which is anti-dilutive. REHABREE -
() On 27 March 2020, the ordinary shares of the () RZE_FTF=A=++H ' &ARQ

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Company was consolidated on the basis of every
ten existing shares of a par value of HK$0.1
each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one share with a par value
of HK$1.0 each in the share capital of the
Company.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e

R

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_ZT_F

=

14. W% - BERRE

F+-A=+—HLFE

Leasehold
land and
Computer buildings
Leasehold Furniture and Motor outside
improvement  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  Hong Kong Total
BRI
HENERE GRRRE  ZERZG RE HETHRET ot
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T TR T T
Cost B
At 1 January 2019 N-E-NE-A-B 483 433 47 1,080 1124 3547
Additions NE - 2 - - - 2
Derecognised on disposal HENBARRR LD
of subsidiaries - (162) ] - - (163)
Disposals RE 419 - - - - 419)
Exchange difference EREE - @2 (1) (19 (20 (42)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-hE+-A=1-RR
at 1 January 2020 R-5-%%-f-A 04 21 425 1,061 1,104 2,925
Additions NE 675 64 144 - - 883
Additions from acquistion o~ BUE-EHEADMAE
a subsidlary - 190 - - - 190
Disposals RE - (72) - - - (72)
Whitten of i - (31) - - - (31)
Exchange diference EREE 38 12 12 65 68 1%
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EE+-A=1-H 7 434 581 1,126 1172 4,090
Accumulated depreciation ~ BEHFEREEEE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2019 N-E-NE-A-B 307 200 386 864 34 1,807
Charge for the year KERRY - 16 15 215 2 297
Eliminated upon disposal of HEMBAREEY
subsidiaries - (103 (1) - - (104)
Eiminated on disposals REREH (243) - - - - (249)
Exchange difference EREE - @2 - (18) ) 1)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NETZA=T-BR
at 1 January 2020 R-5-%5-f-H 64 207 400 1,061 b4 1,786
Charge for the year TEERR 337 10 37 - 21 405
Eliminated on disposals RERSH - 20) - - - (20)
Eliminated on written off HERAE - (22) - - - (22)
Exchange difference EREE 19 1 3 6 5 9%
At 31 December 2020 REEET-A=T-A 420 176 440 1,126 80 2,242
Net carrying amount REFE
Atat 31 December 2020 RE-EETZAZT-A %7 258 141 - 1,002 1848
At at 31 December 2019 R-E-NETZA=1-H - 64 25 - 1,000 1,139
DMEEGER)BRAT —TTFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EHESE
Leased Motor
properties vehicle Total
HEME RE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHT FHET
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-¥&£+-A=+-H
Carrying amount REE 158 - 158
As at 31 December 2019 RZF-hAE+ZA=+—-H
Carrying amount REE 427 - 427
For the year ended BE-F-EE+-A=+-H
31 December 2020 I
Depreciation charge MEHX 269 - 269
For the year ended BE-F-NLE+-A=+-H
31 December 2019 LLEE
Depreciation charge TERL 1,264 348 1,612
2020 2019
k- k-3 3 —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET Tt
Expense relating to short-term leases AEAEEABENHAY 333 171
Expense relating to leases of low-value BEBELIENHE (T
assets, excluding short-term lease REEEENEHESE)
of low value assets EBANEY 36 8
Total cash outflow for leases HEMNBReRLBE 902 1,107
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE = 540
For both years, the Group leases various offices for RWFER - AEEFEEBEEZ @R
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for NE - HESGHNUNEEHBEME(ZE
fixed term of 2 years (2019: 9 months to 2 years). —NhEF: WEREMEF)MEIL - HE
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and REREERER  BEHAZRBRTRGR
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. KA o PN TE AR HA K R4k 1S P] 5 S HR
In determining the lease term and assessing the length ZERER  AEBERESYHZESE I
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the REB A REIBTT 2 HRE -

definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont’d) 15. ERAESE(Z)
The consolidated statement of financial position SEEMBMRARITATEBEEE 2
shows the following amounts relating to leases: 28
HK$’000
FAET
Opening net book amount RZZE_ZFTF—-—A—B2HBVEREFE
as at 1 January 2020 427
Depreciation charge TERX (269)
Closing net book amount RZZE-TF+-_HA=+—H
as at 31 December 2020 2 HIRIREF(AE 158
16. GOODWILL 16. BE
2020 2019

—EB-RFE —_T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000

TF#ET FHETT
Cost BN
At 1 January mw—H—H 198,681 201,021
Arising on acquisition of W — KB A RIFTESE
a subsidiary (Note 34) (PtE34) 135 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE AR - (2,340)
Exchange adjustments [ & 3F 28 6 -
At 31 December R+Z—A=+—8H 198,822 198,681
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHREEE
At 1 January R—H—H 156,881 111,255
Impairment loss recognised FACERBERIE
in the year 17,900 47,966
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR - (2,340)
At 31 December Rt+—_A=+—H 174,781 156,881
Net carrying amount AREEE
At 31 December Rt+-A=+—8 24,041 41,800

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

16. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 16. HE(£Z)
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing BERENRSIMEULN AR ZES
purposes to the following groups of cash-generating EABM([BRESEESEM]) :
units (“CGUs”):
2020 2019
—B®FE —T—hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Consultancy Services A AR T 23,900 41,800
Media Services 158 A 7% 141 -
24,041 41,800
Consultancy Services FERIBRTS
The management appointed an independent qualified ERHEZE - RBUAEREXMGEM
professional valuer, Ascent Partners Valuation Service NHHERAGRLAT  RBEARS
Limited, to determine the recoverable amount of this EA BRI AT e 5 8 o

group of CGUs.

KIS EEBEMAR 2 AT E &5 TR
BEREEET  mEAEBENRAR
REEMEZHBHBEZRERENE
BEtE - ZMBHEERERFHME
BRI R BFF2847T%( T — NF ¢
18.20%) ©

The recoverable amount of this group of CGUs is
determined based on a value in use calculation which
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering
a five-year period, and a discount rate of 28.47% per
annum (2019: 18.20%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Consultancy Services (Cont’d)

The cash flows beyond that five-year period have
been extrapolated using a steady 2.51% (2019:
2.23%) per annum growth rate which does not exceed
the long term average growth rate for the market.
For the purpose of impairment assessment, the
management determined that the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is estimated to
be approximately to HK$26,801,000, which is less
than the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$17,900,000
(2019: HK$47,966,000) in respect of goodwill was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 December 2020. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the impairment
loss on goodwill of HK$17,900,000 was recognised
due to unfavourable change in the market which
affecting the business and operation of consultancy
services segment in 2020. Any adverse change in the
assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable
amount would result in further impairment losses.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of this CGU for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projection
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate is 28.47%, which is
a pre-tax rate which reflects specific risk relating to the
relevant CGU.

Growth rate — No growth rate was used in projected
revenue for the existing or signed projects within
five-year projection period which is based on past
performance and future development plan due to the
current unstable economy.

Change in revenue and direct costs — The changes
are based on the projects on hand, past practices and
expectations for future changes in the market.

Terminal growth rate — The growth rate used are
based on the consumer price index in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”).

16.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

HE(E)

RERARTS (&)
TFHAzEzReRERBRERE
BE251%( T — NF : 2.23% ) i
B EERERTBEMSRATSER
XopREFEMNS  BEEERTHRS
ELXBM((REELSEMN)HITKRES
H{h5149526,801,000/8 7T » ERIRE
EXBUMRmAEER At  #E_F
“EE+ A=+ —BULEFE BER
{EE51817,900,0008 L (=T — A F ¢
47,966,000/ T) E NGRS BEmE R HE
b EREPHER c ARREERAE -
TR AR A E518 17,900,000 7T 5 H
RIS EETFES  E T _TF
BRGSO ERRLEE - sTETK
B4 28 A 2 R R B T A& B i
BEEINREEIE

HENBRECEABENEE_T_ZTF
TZA=t-HLEFENFEREBEERK

FAZIERR o Xl EIEERTEA
ReEneNETHERENRNSEE

ZR/RE&

ARIR = — AR R B28.47% -
SEABMEEAER

BRBRER
2 69 BLAT K o

BEXR-mREAKENRE @ REB
%Eﬁ%fﬁﬂﬂi)}(ﬂﬁxfﬁiﬂ BEHD
BRENRBERFHERANEN RS

Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ-‘§$°

WHEFBEERAZEB-ZHHERTF
SEEEVIER - BEES R RIS E
{EEyTEE -

RmBRE-FANERRENFE
ARKMBI(THE D EEERE -

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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ma

PR ERAR BT RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Hez=-FT

16.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

—EF A=t ALEE

GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Consultancy Services (Cont’d)

Working capital change — the turnover day of trade
receivables and trade payables was 90 days in
determining the working capital changes which are
based on the management best estimation and the
historical record of the CGU.

Media Services

This goodwill arose from the Group’s acquisition
of Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries (see note
34), whose principal activities were provision of
media services. The management of the Group had
determined that it was the CGU that was expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The recoverable amount of the CGU-Media Services
(“CGU-MS”) was determined based on the value
in use calculation with a discount rate of 25% per
annum. This calculation uses five-year period cash
flow projection extrapolated using a steady 2.51%
per annum growth rate which does not exceed
the long term average growth rate for the market,
which represents what management of the Group
believes is the best estimation of what CGU-MS are
able to achieve in their business life. The directors
determined the cash flow projection based on its
expectation for market development. The directors
believed any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of any of the CGU-MS to exceed
the aggregate recoverable amount. The management
of the Group determined that no impairment loss
was considered necessary for the year ended
31 December 2020 as the result of impairment
assessment performed.
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EH%%M@

BEEcRH - ERNEEBNREM:T
MECEABMNELRLE  BEEE
B BN BEIRBREZRREZEN

IR A ES H A290R ©

IR RS AR TS
L TS AN 5% [ W R R T R R LB
BRABIMEL(2RMES4)  EX 2

EBRRHKERE - AREEEER
REEBRRGLEA GHRTH RV R R

PRENRRSELSEN  -REELE
I —RERB ([ ReELEM—KER

Bz kR RREREBEFEEM
BT MEAXRREF25% - WAERA
AFRBASRETRD - UEFF2.51%H

BEEEXREE  ZEEXRTHBAMS
MEMTHEREE KREAKEERE

HEREELEM - HKERBREDE
EaREEER 2 &EM - EFERER
UMISRRCBEHNETRSRERA
EEHE ZERRZEMAEAEE
BT eBRIMReEELEM — K
RFREAEBB A WEEE - AEE
BEEERS  REREN  REBE=
E_TEF_A=+—HLEFEEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REFZEATIZHERS
2020 2019

—EB-®FE —_T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TFHET
Unlisted investments ELETIRE
Share of net assets DIEEESE 2,005 2,204
Amounts due from associates (Note) — FEUEEA A T3k IE (FisE) 2,753 2,743
4,758 4,947
2020 2019
—B-®FE —ZT—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Amounts due to associates (Note) JESTEE N A 2 E (BT EE) 2,340 1,860
Note:  Amounts due from/to associates are unsecured and MisE :  FEULENEE AR B A EER
non-interest bearing. The directors of the Company HERE - NARESEHIE
do not expect that the amount will be settled within RmEH KRB —FRNBEZE
1 year from the end of the reporting period. The B ARRESRAR  HRBE
directors of the Company considered that no ECL NEIERAEE N EERNASHE
was recognised on the ground that the associates R - B EERERTESRE
have sufficient ability to repay the amounts due to EEi8 -
the Group.
Particulars of the associates are set out in Note 37 to BE AR BH NG M REMN T
the consolidated financial statements. 37 °

THAEERBRAT T -TEER




136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)
Summarised financial information of material

associate

Summarised financial information in the Group’s
material associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

17. REFEABZH#ER(E)
EEBREATIZUBERBE

AEBEBEHENTZHBERNREZE
FIEATR o THIM B E R R 1M 2 2 7]
BRBABVWBHREERREH M HRE
EZEHE -

Name
&=
Best Concept Limited
EFEEFRAT
2020 2019
—EZE|E —ZT—hF
Percentage of ownership interests 9 5 RE L1 40% 40%
HK’000 HK’000
F#ET FAET
At 31 December Rt+-A=+—H
Non-current assets JEMENE E 10,570 11,298
Current assets TMENEE 2,986 2,382
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (6,750) (6,750)
Current liabilities mEAE (2,988) (2,632)
Net assets BEFE 3,818 4,298
Group’s share of carrying amount of ~ ZNEE E(GHEZE 2
interests IRHEE 1,527 1,719
Year ended 31 December HE+-_A=+—BHLFE
Revenue I 5 542 400
Loss for the year REEEIE (480) (647)
Other comprehensive income Eizmikzs - -
Total comprehensive loss >HEEERE (480) (647)

Dividend received from associate

YBR B B R m) 2 BB - -

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s
share of the amounts of all individually immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity
method.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

17. REFEAB 2R (E)

TRIVRANEE G AR TIEARR 2 B
BEANEEBEEAZEZHERRZHE
R

2020 2019
—T®FE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TFAT
At 31 December R+_A=+—H
Carrying amount of interests Mz BREE 478 485

Year ended 31 December

Loss for the year KEEZEEE
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wl
Total comprehensive loss T HEBBE

HET-_A=+t—HILFE

() (1

(7) (1)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

8. MAFEFAHEE W Z/

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BEE
INCOME
2020 2019
—¥-85F —T 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#&T FAET
Unlisted equity securities, at fair value  3F_F AR AN 5 (32 A F(E) 30 931

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are equity securities held for
strategic purposes and stated at fair value.

The above unlisted equity investments represent the
Group’s 10.35% equity interest in a private entity
(2019: 10.35% and 10% equity interest in private
entities) incorporated in Singapore.

During the year, the Group had disposed of an
unlisted equity security at the consideration of
HK$857,000 for better use of fund for the Group. A
cumulative gain on disposal of HK$252,000 has been
transferred to accumulated losses.

The consideration was set off with a trade payable
to a professional services provider for financial
advisory and valuation services who is the purchaser
of the unlisted equity security for the amount of
HK$800,000. The remaining balance of HK$57,000
was subsequently settled by cash in March 2021.

BAFEAAREMEERSMBEE
T RRES B RA CBRAES - WIRA
FESIE -

L3 EmR AR ERR A S B —ERE
I M 2 2 AL A B EERI10.35% (=
T—NF  AAEE10.35% & 10%H %
AiEes ) R IR A fE Es o

RER - AEB AR ES857,000/%8 7T i
EILTRAFES - BETHAAASE
EMES - BEMRFTIE252,000%8
TLEEAREIE -

REC BRI I 5 B & & ARG
B —2EERBEER (ELTRA
FBHME T )HE FEMEREF800,000/8
JC ° B N57,0008 T HEER T = —
FZRAUREEE -

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

19. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN INVESTEE 19. FEUIR S H SR LA SIHIE
COMPANY
Amount due from an investee company is unsecured, FEWIG EH R AT RBEAERE 85
interest bearing at 3% per annum and has no fixed F3%EtE BV HEE T ENE -
repayment terms.
20. INVENTORIES 20. &
2020 2019
—B®FE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Finished goods RIBK i 582 -

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as
follows:

ERARAIWAABRIEFERED
AT

2020 2019

—B-BEFE T NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHET FHBT

Amount of inventories sold BEEFESHE 79 -

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B o H b rEW RN

2020 2019
—BCBFE —ThF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#EIT FAETT
Trade receivables B S EWERK 3,325 4,922
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE - (1,790)
3,325 3,132

Prepayments, deposits and BNRIE - ek
other receivables (note) H b e IR BR 3R (B5T) 4,218 622
7,543 3,754
Note: As at 31 December 2020, the amount of approximately M R—_BE-_FEF+-_B=+—8 " %

HK$533,000 (2019: HK$132,000) represents
prepayment, rental deposits and utility deposits. The
amount of HK$2,817,000 (2019: Nil) represents the
amount due from a non-controlling interest of Bohu
Business School who is also the legal representative
of the Group of Bohu Holdings which is used for
operation of the Group of Bohu Holdings. The amount
due from a non-controlling interest is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and expected to be settled
within 1 year from the end of the reporting period.
For development and operation of the business in
the Group of Bohu Holdings, the director of the
Company, Mr. Xie Xuan, approved to advance the
amounts to the non-controlling interest. For the
benefit of the shareholders of the Group, Mr. Xie Xuan
agreed with the board to provide a guarantee to the
Company for the amount due from a non-controlling
interest. The remaining balance of HK$868,000 (2019:
HK$490,000) represents other receivables which are
stated at amortised cost.

SNEE (B ARAT

533,000 70 (= F— L9 : 132,000/
TO)IREMNR - ke R ARREER
& 2,817,000 (= E—NF : £)
BERETHESR(MAETERES
HUERRR)IFIERERHORIE - AR
}%ﬂ B SR B 28 o IR IEIE AR E
HHIEAERE  REREHNRE
AR —FREE - ETE Hx%
EXBEHERELEEMNS AR
B S AR R IR Hxﬁé/\ﬁ%
He BTAEEREMF = uﬁiaa
SEHEESREUIER Hﬂ%fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ
AARREIBEER - 45842868,0007
T(ZZT—hE: 490,0005%%)%5%&%&
SHAK A1) BR B9 E th FE UK BR 3K ©

ZECTHEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 21. B REMEWIRER(Z)

' 140

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

The credit terms granted by the Group to customers
are determined on a case-by-case basis with
reference to the size of service contracts, recurrent
services provided to the customers and their credit
history. The Group makes provision for trade
receivables based on specific review. Provision is
made against trade receivables after considering the
amount due, creditability of customers and other
qualitative factors.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the
Group at the end of the reporting period based on the
invoice date and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is
as follows:

AEERFEFPRHEZEER IS ERY
BHRE  ARFEFFHERM RS
EREZEEELZERBRAEE - K
£ BIZE BB R Bt & 5 FEUR 304
e AREERNERINEHE  TPE
BREMEERZKEE S RERARE
B -

7% 55 B 3o B R IR B B RS R
REEBE Y LS EKER S BRI
mF :

2020 2019

—B®FE —T—hHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

0 to 30 days 0ZE30K 3,325 3,132
31 to 60 days 31E60XK = -
61 to 90 days 61290k = -
Over 90 days HIBI0K = -
Total trade receivables B 5 W R R 3,325 3,182

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in note 31(b)(ii).

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

22, HERBEZEY

2020 2019

—E-¥FE —ThF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHT

Cash and bank balances B MIBITER 7,061 5,520

Bank balances comprise deposits with bank held by
the Group with an original maturity of three months or

less.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(i)

(i

During the year, the Group had signed
settlement agreements between ADIL, the
substantial shareholder of the Company, and
customers. Under the settlement agreements,
the Group had instructed the customers to
transfer the trade receivables for the total
amount of HK$9,972,000 (2019: HK$6,264,000)
directly to ADIL as settlement of the amount due
to ADIL.

Amount due to a PRC business partner (“BP”)
amounting to HK$6,782,000 was included in
other payables in 2019. During the year, the
BP had signed a loan transfer agreement with
ADIL and the Group. Under the loan transfer
agreement, the amount due to the BP was
transferred to amount due to a substantial
shareholder.

RITA

EHBEERAAKEREMRIIMA
A s B AR 2 SRITIFAR ©

23. EXFREXSH

(i)

SNEE (B ARAT

RER AEBEEARFTEER
RADILRBEFZEETBEERZE - R
BEEwm®  AEBEETZER
F #5458 59,972,000 L (- &
— L5 : 6,264,000/87T) N E FJE
IWBE SR E =R TADIL - UBE
JETADILZ FRIE ©

BN — 2P REBRE(TEBR
1) 2FIBEL5/56,782,000/8 7T
B ARZE—NFRHEMEME
A RFER - EBEHBEADIL
RAEEZET D EREERE
RIEEEE RS BN —RBED
BHIHRBEOERERN—REE
AR FIA ©
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e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. BS R HMAEFIRRR

2020 2019
—EB|E —ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT FHET

Trade payables B S ENIRRK 2,319 -
Accruals and other payables (Note (a)) TEIZE A R HE M FERER

(Hf3E (@) 11,773 14,650

Contract liabilities (Note (b)) AHIaEFEED) 178 392

14,270 15,042

Note:

(@): Included in accruals and other payables as at
31 December 2020 were accrued administrative
and operating expenses of HK$5,667,000 (2019:
HK$4,807,000).

GEX

RZE-_EF+_A=+—H:tAHE
REAREMEMNERNAETITR
K & E B % 5,667,000 T(—F— R
£F 1 4,807,000/ 7T) °

(b):  The following table shows how much of the revenue b): TEREJIEERHKRZFPEZLEL
recognised relates to carried-forward contract EENaBEadE -
liabilities.
2020 2019
—ECFE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Balance at 1 January R—A—HE&H 392 3,885
Decrease in contract liabilities as RERNERRZEBNEL
a result of recognising revenue aERd
during the year (225) (3,476)
Exchange difference MEH Z5 11 (7
178 392

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d) 24. B RHMEMNRRK(Z)
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group REEBRHERRZEFEMBERER
at the end of the reporting period based on the invoice BEHEZERBETOT -
date is as follows:
2020 2019
—B®FE _—_TNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Less than 90 days DIR90K 2,319 =
90 to 180 days 90& 180k - -
Over 180 days HBiB180K = -
Total trade payables B S ENER B 2,319 -
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of FEDHAAHEELSENTENTE
contract liabilities recognised are as follows: FE
Trade deposits from customer of internet REEBBEREREEFNESESE
development services
When the Group receives a deposit before service is REENIZEHRERIWEURS R - 87
rendered, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the EHVHELEAYNEE  EEEES
beginning of a contract, until the revenue recognised YERNW R BBIZSLB AL -
on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.
CONVERTIBLE BONDS PAYABLE 25. FEfTTiRRR ESHFRIE
2020 2019
—EB-¥FE —_T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FETT
Liability component of A ESN B EI D
convertible bonds - 102,275
On 21 December 2018, the Company issued RZE—-N\F+ZA=+—H  KQF
HK$111,238,000 zero-coupon convertible bonds E%17111,238,0008 T 2 T E A AR &
with the aggregate principal amount of approximately % RNe B AK111,238,0008 7T °
HK$111,238,000. The bond holders are entitled BEFEFEABRUNERENLSETE
to convert such bonds into ordinary shares at a ZEBHFER AL RERK - MESGKRE
conversion price of HK$0.45. If the bonds have @i QlepnN _—_E-_FEF+_HA_-+H

not been converted, they will be redeemed on 20
December 2020 at a redemption amount equal to
100% of the principal amount of the outstanding
convertible bonds.

BHEENHMRLBRIBREESLAEE5
100% M EE O ¢ REEE [ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

Hez=-FT

25.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

—EF A=t ALEE

CONVERTIBLE BONDS PAYABLE (Cont’d)
Conversion may occur at any time between 22
December 2018 and 20 December 2020.

On 8 January 2020, the convertible bonds with
the principal amount of HK$111,238,000 (carrying
amount of HK$102,469,000) were fully converted
into 247,194,848 new shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.45 per share.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the
convertible bonds was separated from the liability
component. The equity element is presented in equity
heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is
9.02%.

The convertible bonds contain two components as
follows:

25. FEMETRIRASHRIE(E)

#EH RN - \F+_A=-+=-—H=
—E-FF+ - A -+ HHBEMAERE
A o

RZEZZEF—-—ANB A& #H
A 111,238,000 # T ( R ® B &
102,469,000 L) M A KR EH B
RERO4ASETHHBEZHEBLA
247,194,848 AN A R FTAR D ©

R TER - A RRES R M
BEBH DAY - BRI O N EETP
Ak ESERHEEIDIR 8&
DEEBRFEF9.02% °

7

AR ES B R EAKE D

2020 2019

—E-¥FE —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHET FHET

Equity component at 31 December Rt+ZA=+—Bz#E=HD - 3,091
Liability component at 31 December WA+ —-A=+—Hz8&HH - 102,275
Total st - 105,366
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HHE&EE
2020 2019
—EB-®FE —_T—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TFAET
Lease liabilities payable: FEHHEEE :
Within one year —F R 163 494
Within a period of more than one year  #2i8— {84 A 2
but not more than two years - 163
163 657
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : 2B/ 128 A RS E
12 months shown under current JmmB B &z IE
liabilities (163) (494)
Amount due for settlement after AR12B A 185 EY &
12 months shown under non-current  3ER B & & 2 F08
liabilities = 163
The Group’s lease liabilities are for terms of 2 years. AEBWHEABERIMST -
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates BERARHEEA G NE TS ERN
applied to lease liabilities were ranged from 2% to BN TF2%E538%(ZT—NF : N
5.38% (2019: from 2% to 8%). F2%Z%E8%) °
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e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

27. SHARE CAPITAL

27.

As at 31 December 2020
R-B-F£+-A=1+-8

Bz

As at 31 December 2019
RZE-NE+-A=1+-H

Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
kir&E HfE K& B HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER FHT
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning of the year, ordinary  REA) > BRAE1ET
shares of HK$0.1 each L@k 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Share consolidation (note 2) Ripa b (Fizk2) (9,000,000,000) = - -
At the end of the year, ordinary shares  REX - BREET.0ET
of HK$1.0 (2019: HK$0.1) each (ZB-NE:01%T)
AR 1,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At the beginning of the year, ordinary R4 - BREE0. 1T
shares of HK$0.1 each VEER 1,761,825,563 176,183  1,761,825,563 176,183
Conversion of convertible bonds MRk ES Bl
(note 1) (BfH1) 247,194,848 24,719 - .
Share consolidation (note 2) RiA &6 (HF2) (1,808,118,370) - - -
At the end of the year, ordinary shares  REX - SREMEI0FT
of HK$1.0 (2019: HK$0.1) each (ZZF-n%F:01%T)
VLB 200,902,041 200,902 1,761,825,563 176,183
Note 1: MIsET -

As disclosed in note 25, total number of 247,194,848
ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$24,719,000 were
issued on 8 January 2020 upon fully conversion of the
convertible bonds amounting to HK$102,469,000 during the

year ended 31 December 2020.

Note 2:

On 27 March 2020, the Company completed a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten existing shares of
HK$0.1 of the Company combined into one consolidated
share of HK$1.0 effective on 27 March 2020.

* Details of the share consolidation are stated in the
Company’s circular dated 28 February 2020.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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28.

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESERVES

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium, capital reserve and
contributed surplus are distributable to shareholders,
subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of share premium, capital reserve and contributed
surplus if:

(i) itis, or after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i)  the realisable value of its assets would be
thereby less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital account.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the aggregate of
the share capital and share premium of subsidiaries
acquired through an exchange of shares as at the date
of the group reorganisation and the waive of loans by
a related party on 1 February 2004.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising on translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 4(t).

SHARE OPTIONS
The Company does not currently have any employee
share option scheme in effect.

28.

29.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

ToA=+—BLEFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Balances and transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the
Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disclosed in this note. In addition to those
disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial
statements, details of transactions between the Group
and other related parties are as follows:

(a)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Amount due to a director of the Company,
Mr. Xie Xuan, of HK$7,066,000 (2019:
HK$5,801,000) is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and is not due for repayment within the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

Amount due to a substantial shareholder of
the Company, ADIL, of HK$11,252,000 (2019:
HK$9,187,000) is unsecured, interest bearing
at the annual rate of 5% and is not due for
repayment within the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. As at
31 December 2019, HK$16,000 (2020: Nil) is
unsecured, interest free and repayable on 30
June 2021.

Interest expenses to the substantial shareholder
for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted
to HK$341,000 included in the amount due to a
substantial shareholder (2019: HK$662,000).

In May 2020, the Group’s subsidiary had
entered into a consultancy services agreement
with — L (BEM) & BR A7 (transliterated
as Yifan (Guangzhou) Investment Company
Limited) (“Yifan (Guangzhou)”) to provide
consultancy services for the period from June
2020 to December 2020 with total revenue of
RMB800,000. On 11 November 2020, 12%
of shareholding of Yifan (Guangzhou) were
transferred to the director of the Company, Mr.
Xie Xuan. No significant balance in respect of the
above transaction was carried forward at the end
of the reporting period in respect of the current
year.

Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. EXEEANTRS(Z)

(Cont’d)
(d) The remuneration of directors and other d SEFKREMFZEEEXENTF
members of key management during the year is ANZEHEMIOT :
as follows:
2020 2019
—B®E _—_ThF
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Short-term benefits %2 HAtE A 2,202 1,771
The remuneration of directors and key executives BEERFETBRABZHMNIIH
is determined by the remuneration committee FMEEEREREAZCKELT
having regard to the performance of individuals HBBRETE

and market trends.

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. B ITH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EAEIRZES7
2020 2019
—B®FE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEE
Wtz B EE 30 931
At amortised cost 1R SR AN
Amount due from fEW —FIRE B R
an investee company NGIE/SEl 578 538
Amounts due from associates JRE Wi Bt N BB 2,753 2,743
Trade and other receivables f?%&ﬁﬁﬂ%”@ﬁr 7,393 3,708
Cash and cash equivalents BE&EBRESEED 7,061 5,520
Rental deposit Heke - 79
17,815 13,519
Financial liabilities [ Ecg=L
At amortised cost 1R SRR
Trade and other payables “’J%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ 14,092 14,650
Amounts due to associates A NCIE O] 2,340 1,860
Amount due to a director JER AN TF]— %i% K18
of the Company 7,066 5,801
Amount due to a substantial JEff— R EBRREKIE
shareholder 11,252 9,203
Lease liabilities HEAE 163 657
Liability component of FER AT E SR
convertible bonds payable BEHD = 102,275

34,913 134,446
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management and policies
Details of the Group’s financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

(b)

(i)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Company’s functional currency is Hong
Kong dollar and the functional currencies
of the majority of the subsidiaries are Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi. The Group’s
transactions, trade receivables and trade
payables are mainly denominated in these
currencies.

Entities within the Group are exposed
to foreign exchange risk from future
commercial transactions and monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated
in a currency that is not the entities’
functional currencies. However, as the
net foreign exchange exposure is not
significant, the Group does not actively
hedge this foreign exchange exposure
and no foreign currency risk sensitivity is
disclosed.

The Group periodically reviews monetary
assets and liabilities held in currencies other
than the functional currency to ensure that
net exposure is kept at an acceptable level,
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

31. UBITRE)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF

T=REE

BIEFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Market risk (Cont’d)

Interest rate risks

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to fixed rate borrowings
from the substantial shareholder (see Note
30(b)). The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk relates primarily to bank balances (see
Note 22). The management of the Group
considers the Group’s exposure of the
bank balances to interest rate risk is not
significant as they have a short maturity
period.

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to perform an obligation by the
counterparties, is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group did not provide any credit terms
to its customers.

In order to minimise the credit risk in
relation to trade and other receivables,
the management of the Group has
strengthened the credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the management of the Group considers
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the majority
of the counterparties are reputable banks or
banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 31. MBI R(E)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (b) HASREMEERBE(Z)
(Cont’d)
(iij) Credit risk management (Cont’'d) (i) 1SEEMGEE (&)
For internal credit risk management, the MALEEREEEmMS -
management of the Group periodically AREFESEETHERBL
reviews the financial information of the NE > IBEHER AR REM
associates, investee company and other FEWER B BT 5 &KL+ LASE
receivables to assess whether credit risk HZERMBEDBERLN -
has increased significantly. The directors NEBEERE  ZEHE
of the Group consider the ECL on these WIBHEE BB T~EKX -
balances are not significant.
Debtors’ aging EEN 2 BEE
As part of the Group’s credit risk EBRNEBEZERBREE —
management, the Group uses debtors’ Mmoo REFBFHABEBAZ
aging to assess the impairment for its RRTHEEMNERERZ
customers in relation to its consultancy BE RERAZEZERFPER
operation because these customers share EEERE S mEZEEE
common risk characteristics that are BELREPIREAYNERIZN
representative of the customers’ abilities 2EB|HIRIB e o &
to pay all amounts due in accordance with REEBEN T -_ZTEF+—
the contractual terms. The following table A=1+—HBEEEEDPEIL
provides information about the exposure to 2> HIEHEEEBER T
credit risk for trade receivables which are 2B SEWREZR (W RERE
assessed based on provision matrix as at BERE)EERRBER -
31 December 2020 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).
Gross carrying amount BRI 4 {E
2020 2019
- 3 “E-hE
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount  Expected amount  Expected
Average  of trade credit Average of trade credit
loss rate  receivables loss lossrate  receivables loss
BORKERR  BHE BHRNEY  EBEEE
MFEE REgE BE TOEREX  RESE B
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TiER T TR TEL
Current (not past due) N (TRaE)
1-30 days past due af1z30k 0% 3,325 - 0% 3,182 -
31-60 days past due BE1Z60K - - - - - -
61-90 days past due afe1 290k - - - - - -
More than 90 days past due LRGN - - - 100% 1790 1,790
3,325 - 4922 1,790
DMEEGER)BRAT —TTFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 31. MBI R(E)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (b) HMAEEMEERBK(E)
(Cont’d)

(i) Credit risk management (Cont’d) (i) EEEMGEEE)

Debtors’ aging (Cont’d) BN 2 B (&)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

There were no significant changes in the
gross carrying amounts of trade receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The following significant changes in the
gross carrying amounts of trade receivables
contributed to the increase in the loss
allowance during the year ended 31
December 2019:

- there was a write-off of trade
receivables with a gross carrying
amount of HK$162,000;

—  there was a derecognised of lifetime
ECL regarding on disposal of
subsidiaries with a gross carrying
amounts of HK$3,043,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

31. MBIRE)
(b) BARSEMEERBIR(E)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)
(ii) Credit risk management (Cont’d)
The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables under the simplified

approach.

(i) fEEEPEEE(E)

ZBZRWER 2= MEH
EEEEED -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HiRH 2HREH
5= 5 5= i
(FEERE) (EERE) @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT FAT
As at 1 January 2019 R=B-nE-A-H 3,050 1,790 4,840
Derecognised on disposal REEMBL AR IERER
of subsidiaries (3,043) - (3,043)
Exchange difference i (7) - (7)
As at 31 December 2019and R=F-AE+-A=+-BE
1 January 2020 —EF-%%-A-A - 1,790 1,790
Derecognised on disposal ML E—ERBLABEILER
of a subsidiary - (1,790) (1,790)

As at 31 December 2020

R-ZF-¥F+-A=+-H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 31. MBI R(E)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (b) HMAEEMEERBK(E)
(Cont’d)
(ii) Credit risk management (Cont’d) (i) BEERGEEE)
The following table shows the movement TRBROEE - ER
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised Hi e WBE i ER 2 2 B8
for other receivables under the general H=ZE e st
approach.
Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HEY
EEEBE
(E&RIE)
HK$’000
FETT
As at 1 January 2019 HR='—hE—H—H 787
Write-offs 1 54 (787)
As at 31 December 2019 and R-F—-hE+=A=+—HXR
31 December 2020 —E-¥F+=-A=+—H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)
(ii) Credit risk management (Cont’d)

(iii)

At the end of the reporting period,
HK$3,325,000 (2019: HK$3,132,000) of
the total trade and other receivables were
due from the Group’s largest customer
(2019: largest customer) within the
consultancy services segment.

During the year ended 31 December
2020, no write-off of trade receivables was
recorded.

During the year ended 31 December
2019, there was a write-off of trade
receivables with a gross carrying amount of
HK$162,000.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group relies on issuing of shares and
borrowings from related parties as a
significant sources of funding.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for their
financial liabilities which are based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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31. UBITRE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)
(iii) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

31. UBITRE)
MEEMGEERBR(E)

(b)

(i) FEELEGEE (&

More than
Ondemand 3 months Total
or less than but less undiscounted Total
Imonths  thaniyear ~ Morethan  cash flows carrying
BEXS  ZERWE 1 year KEE  amount
DRZER  EOR-5  BE-F RERESE  KEYE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
2020 k33 TEn TEnL TEn TEn Thn
Trade and other payables %%&Hﬁtfﬁﬁf 14,002 - - 14,002 14,092
Amounts due to associates e NG 2,340 - - 2,340 2,340
Amount due to a director of the Company BT AAF — %ﬁ%mlﬁ - - 7,066 7,066 7,066
Amount due to a substantial shareholder R —4 X 2RE3E - - 11,252 11,252 11,252
Lease liabllities HERE 1 9% - 166 163
16,503 95 18,318 34,916 34,913
2019 “ENE
Trade and other payables EHREMERES 14,650 - - 14,650 14,650
Amounts due to associates EBERARE 1,860 - - 1,860 1,860
Amount due to a director of the Company ~ ERALE-£ZE5 - - 5,801 5,801 5,801
Amount due to a substantial shareholder B —&TEREZE - - 9,203 9,203 9,203
Convertible bonds payable ERTARERTE - 111,238 - 111238 102,275
Lease liabilities HEag 146 364 166 676 057
16,696 1,602 15,170 143,428 134,446

In the opinion of the directors, the Group
should have adequate resources to meet
its obligation in the forthcoming year on the
basis set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 31. MBI R(E)
(c) Fair values (c) AFE

The directors of the Company have considered AKARESREMEVBEERE
that the carrying amounts of all financial assets E7EEEBEEREN T _TF+ =
and liabilities, approximate their fair values at 31 A=+—HRZZE—NLF+=A
December 2020 and 31 December 2019. = +T—HZAFEMRE -

The following table sets out the carrying value of TREINIRZAFEFAEZHHEITA
financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 RZE-_ZFF+_-_A=+—HK
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 using —E-NAFt+ZA=1t—HZKHR
the three-level hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13. B Hb(FEEEEMBRREEDSE

135S E 2 = AR -

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active FE— BREASSHETENY
markets for identical assets or liabilities HRABESBEERT
that the entity can access at the BB R TE) ;

measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included B BRE—RZFTRELI
within Level 1 that are observable for BESAE BRI EE
the asset or liability, either directly or A ERG AEE &

indirectly; and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the B BESBEZTAHEH
asset or liability. AEUE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

-0 ot e wct

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT THT

2020 —E-EF
Recurring fair value measurement &% A T(EE 8
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEFAEME
A2 B EE - - <L £
2019 —ZE-NF
Recurring fair value measurement @ E A F{E 8
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFERARLMLE
Ehzm AR - - 931 931

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHE-Z-Z

31.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

=

+=g=t-

BIEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

Fair values (Cont’d)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI as at
31 December 2020 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation using asset based approach.

At 31 December 2020, if the equity price
had increased/decreased 10% with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s other
comprehensive income and fair value reserve
would be increased/decreased by approximately
HK$3,000 (2019: HK$93,000). The 10%
increase/decrease represents management’s
assessment of the likely maximum change in
equity value over the period until the end of next
annual reporting period.

Financial assets at FVTOCI

31. UBITRE)

(c)

AFAE(H)
BE—Z-_TFI-A=+—AF%
—E-AE+=A=+—ALF
B E-ARE-AzMYEE
B E-BRE-AEEALS
B o AREREAERED
KRR T BB 52 R R
2 -

m_7_7¢+ A=+—RHzZ&

NEEFAEMEEARGEZHBE
EZATFERBEEERAELZ
fHEMmES -

R-ZB-_ZBFE+_A=+—H &
EHEMAERRERTE -

RE LA TE10% - BIAEE
ZHEMEE SR AT ERESE

B0 A 493,000 T(ZE— A
F :93,00087T) o LA T
10%EEEEFEREREE T —
&l 4F & R &5 B R 2 B A ] BE 1 3R

ZEREHEH -

A FEFAR ML AW 09/
BE

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

k- et - 3 T—NF

+=A T—A

=+—H =+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

Opening fair value B AFE 931 769
Disposals FE g (857) -
Change in fair value N EEE (44) 162
Closing fair value HARAFE 30 931

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the directors of the Company may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders and issue of new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the total capital plus net
debt. Net debt includes trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amount due to a director
of the Company, amount due to a substantial
shareholder, liability component of convertible bonds
payable and lease liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

32.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

BEXxER

AEBEEEEARE  THEELER
N BHHERREELAE - BER
RFBEARGERE  ARREFHEHRHL
SNTRRZBEEHIE - RETRERE
ARBTHED RBE_FT_FTFR
—E-AFF+ZA=t+—HLEFER
ERER BRIBFEFTE -

AEBAREEABLRREREN
BBaEFERABEANNERFE - &
BFRERE S REMBEMENR - BN
BENRFA  BAEARBESTHA
e —RBEBRRFIA - A ARG
FBEFOMEEABRAEE LRSS
FEY -  EXABEARBEE AEIEE
m N IEERES c RRERRZEER
B ENT

2020 2019
—BI®FE _—_TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFAT
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMER RN 14,092 14,650
Amounts due to associates JETEE N A FE 2,340 1,860
Amount due to a director JERARRR—REEFIA
of the Company 7,066 5,801
Amount due to a substantial B —REEREFIE
shareholder 11,252 9,203
Liability component of R MmRES 2 BEE D
convertible bonds payable - 102,275
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IR RIREEEY (7,061) (5,520)
Net debt B H5 27,689 128,269
Equity attributable/(capital deficiency) to: T3l A L E(E#E %~
(BAREAL)
— owners of the Company S NEIE Z= PN 9,104 (80,134)
— non-controlling interests — IEIE AR RE 2 1,799 (1)
Total equity/(capital deficiency) B (BARNEBAL) %% 10,903 (80,135)
Capital and net debt BRRERFHE 38,592 48,134
Gearing ratio BEAGBLE 71.75% 266.48%
TEIMNEE(ZER)ER AR —TTFER
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e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 16 November 2020, the Group entered into
an agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire 100% equity interests in ACR
Capital Management Limited (“ACRCM”), which
incorporated in Samoa, for a cash consideration of
US$1 (equivalent to HK$8) for nominal value due
to negative asset value as of 16 November 2020
following the streamlining of the corporate business.
The transaction was completed on 16 November

33. HEKMEBAT

RZZEZZTF+—H+"A  KAEER
—RBUF=FEN OB ENERE
BEREeREBI1EZETEERSEIT)HE
HePREEDHESEMA I EMNE
EERERARI(TEMNEEERERA
A1) E100% A% 4 - THE B A R
BRZE_EF+ AT BHEEE
EEB RHER_ZT_TF+—A+X
HEMX o

2020.
Consideration received/receivable: B FEUR(E
HK$’000
T
Cash consideration received/receivable: 2k YIRS R(E -

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

RERHIZEERBEIN

was lost:
HK$’000
FHET
Account receivables JE U BR X 1,790
Allowance for credit losses EEEERE (1,790)
Tax and other payables 7t T8 No FL A JE A5 BR X (4,822)
Net liability disposed of EHEAEFE (4,822)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—FRWB AR Z U
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received and receivables B U R e AR E -
Less: Net liability of a subsidiary B B AR BEFE (4,822)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FWEB ARz K= 4,822

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
Net cash outflows arising on disposal:

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

33. HEMBAT(E)
HEELEZRERETE

HK$’000
T

Consideration received in cash
and cash equivalents

Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of

BEWEE KReEFENRE

B EHEZRERAS
ZEY -

Net cash outflows arising on disposal of a

HE—FRNBARMESE
2B ML FEE -

subsidiary

On 28 June 2019, the Group disposed of its entire
100% equity interests in Asian Capital Resources
PTC Limited (“ACR PTC”) for a cash consideration of
US$100 (equivalent to HK$780).

On 27 November 2019, the Group disposed of its
entire 100% equity interests in Shenzhen Yaxin
Youyuan Fund Management Limited Partnership* (%
NEEETESEEGREE(BRER)) (‘5B
for a consideration of RMB3 (equivalent to HK$3).

On 19 June 2019, the Group disposed of its entire
100% equity interests in Xingbo Hudong (Guangzhou)
Cultural Communication Limited* (£ & & 8 (& M )
XAt E & B R A 7)) (formerly known as Guangzhou
Xingboke Advertising Company Limited* (& /I £ #&
EEEBRAR) “EFEH)”) for a consideration of
RMB5,000 (equivalent to HK$6,000).

On 23 May 2019, the Group has disposed of its
entire 100% equity interests in Guangzhou Yueming
Travel Limited* (B8R EE B R AR (“EINEER")
for a cash consideration of RMB60,000 (equivalent to
HK$68,000).

*

For identification purpose only

RZE—-NAFAAZ+/N\AB ' A&£EE
it & E 7 Asian Capital Resources PTC
Limited ([ ACR PTCJ) &2 &f100% %4 -
B2 RER100ET(HERT80ETT) °

RZBE-NF+—A=Z++tH &&EH
EHEERRIGEETESEEER
CE(BARER)([EEETNEE
100% [t - RERAREIT(HENS
ABIT) e

TE-NEFEXA+NB A£EEH
:./\E/\E%EEJ( M) L BEBR A
A(ABIENEEREERSEARAA])
(EEE])HE2I;B100%ME - RE
A RE5,0007T (F8E 76,0008 7T) °

RZE—NAFRA=Z+=H A£EE
EHREMNESEIREEAR QT ([ EM
$#81)MEII00%E - HeREA
R#60,0007T (48E 768,000/ 7T ) °

1

H
"

A

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 33. HEMEBLAS(£)
Consideration received/receivable: Bl U (E

Total

ACRPTC  TREET E£E®H BB 83t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TATL TR TR TR

Cash consideration Bl TERRERE
received/receivable: 1 - 6 68 75
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control KEESEZEELBEST
was lost:
Total
ACRPTC  TfErx EREH BN s
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Property, plant and equipments 1%« BE k& E - - 59 - 59
Trade and other receivables B 5 E AU BE - - 239 1,813 2,052
Cash and cash equivalents BeRELEEY - 10 1 69 80
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENER - - (3,761) (4,827) (8,588)
Net asset/(liabilties) BHEEE/ (&)
disposed of FE - 10 (3,462) (2,945) (6,397)

‘ 164 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 33. HEMBAS (&)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries: HEWB ARz W/ (Ei8)
Total
ACRPTC  ZfRfn ERE®  RMUH st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TATL TAL TATL TAL TATL

Consideration received and B RERRE

receivables 1 - 6 68 75
Cumulative exchange difference  HEZEREAFEELRES

on translation of these MPBEERR RHIER

subsidiaries reclassified from E%

equity to profit or loss - - 180 128 308

Less: Net assets/(liabilities) of W WBLRIZEE/

subsidiaries (af8)FE - 10 (3462 (2945  (6,397)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEMBAFZ
subsidiaries Wi/ (B8) 1 (10) 3,648 3,141 6,780
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HEEEZHESMEFE -
Total
ACRPTC  Hfsfr EREH  EMNHH @&t
(Note)
(BaE)

HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Consideration received in cash BB REEE
and cash equivalents EMRE 1 - - 68 69

Less: cash and cash equivalents 5 : EH&E7ES

disposed of RESZEYN - (10) (1) (69) (80)
Net cash outflows arising on HEMBARMEL
disposals of subsidiaries ZEEREFE 1 (10) (1) (1) (1)
Note: The consideration receivable amounted HK$6,000 FisE - MEURAE6,000/8 T ARENR IR
has not yet settled and included in other receivables STAMF21IE T H) E A EIARK -

under note 21.

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. WEE—MEMEBATS

' 166

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
entered into two sales and purchase agreements with
two independent third parties, Mr. Tang Chao and £X
FTET(EIN ) =R B IR A A (transliterated as Sandage
(Guangzhou) Holdings Company Limited) (“Sandage”)
in relation to the acquisition of 51% equity interest
of Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries, which are
incorporated in PRC at a consideration of RMB1 each.
Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in internet media services in PRC. The
completion date of the acquisition was 23 September
2020.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

HE_ZT-_TF+_A=1+—HIF
B AEEEMBBYE = ABEBLE
REGTE(EM)ERBR A A ([ AT
1) st EE R R B R A Sz 0 #R T AR
MEMBRARINS1%RIET LMD BEE
e RESABARBAT - BFER
REMBARNTBEEEREEHAL
BERE - WEEKBEHAZZT-_TFAN
A=Z+=H-

R BB EERPIERNE

of acquisition: (=
Fair value
AFE
HK$’000
F#ERT
Plant and equipment = K& 190
Other receivables E b fEULER FK 2,752
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEED 22
Other payables H M ERERK (70)
Identifiable net assets AR EEFE 2,894

The receivables acquired with a fair value of
HK$2,752,000 at the date of acquisition had gross
contractual amounts of HK$2,752,000.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d)

The non-controlling interests (49%) in Bohu Holdings
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by
reference to the proportionate share of recognised
amounts of net liabilities of Bohu Holdings.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

34. WIE—EIMBASE (&)

RUSRE B B R A0 18 TR AR SR IR i a1
(49%) 32 E RGBT IERFREND
EREEHLIIFE -

Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEL ZEHE
HK$’000
T
Consideration transferred HEINE -
Add: Non-controlling interests 0 FEIERR R 3,029
Less: Recognised amount of identifiable net  J& : W AR EEFEZ
assets acquired fER LR (2,894)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEELEZEmE 135

As a result of the acquisition, the Group expected
to increase its sources of income for the Group in
future. Goodwill of approximately HK$135,000 arising
from the acquisition is attributable to the workforce
and economies of scale expected from operations of
the Group and Bohu Holdings. None of the goodwill
arising on the acquisition is expected to be deductible
for tax purposes.

Transaction cost of the acquisition is immaterial.

HRKE  AEEEHRAREAEAEE
EMEWARR - WEMELEZHELD
135,000/8 7L 55 /& T 4N & B & % T 15 A%
EBTEHNS BN RABLE - BIEK
BEAZEETESABERBIR

WIBHRZZRALTERX e

Net cash inflow arising from acquisition WEELZFREEN
HK$’000
FET
Cash and cash equivalent HekIReEEY 22

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2020, the total revenue of the Group for the year would
be HK$14,354,000, and loss for the year would have
been HK$14,324,000. The pro-forma information is
for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and result of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020, nor is
it intended to be a projection of future results.

B A RGN RE

W BR T _FTF—HA—B%K '+ &
SERAFERNBIER14,354,000
BT T AF E R E 1B R A 14,324,000
BIT o ZBEERMERFR A - RD
REAEEERER-_Z_TF—A—
HEZKKWEEE IBR TEREDE
BMoWARKEEE  DIFBRARKRZ

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

35. COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. ASMERAE

POSITION
2020 2019
—T-TE _—_T—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries AL EYNGIPR 3 1,968 12,920
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Other payables H b fE T RR 3K 4,734 3,377
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENGIECE] 17,896 17,496
Convertible bonds payable JE S A AR B R - 102,275
22,630 123,148
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEETFE (22,630) (123,148)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES (20,662) (110,228)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERHEE

Amount due to a director B —REEHIE 69 67
Amount due to a substantial B —REEREKIE
shareholder 11,271 9,222
11,340 9,289
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (32,002) (119,517)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRGHE
Share capital A& 2 200,902 176,183
Reserves (Note) s (MIsT) (232,904) (295,700)
TOTAL EQUITY LAMELS (32,002) (119,517)
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of RZEZ—F=HA=THEESSHE
Directors on 30 March 2021. NI -
Xie Xuan Feng Ke i EE BE
Director Director - 4
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e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

35. COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35. ASMB®kRER (&

POSITION (Cont’d)

m=

Convertible
Share Contributed bonds equity ~ Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
TR ES ]
i EMERS EnE Ritiste @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TR FAT TET
At 1 January 2019 R-Z-h&—A—-AH 304,371 13,882 3,091 (508,658) (187,314)
Loss for the year TEERE - - - (108,386) (108,386
At 31 December 2019 and R=Z—N1F
at 1 January 2020 +-A=1—H
RZZE-RE
—A-A 304,371 13,882 3,091 (617,044) (295,700)
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (14,954) (14,954)
Conversion of convertible  E# AR ES BRN
bonds into shares 80,841 - (3,091) - 77,750
At 31 December 2020 WR-F-FHE
+=ZA=+-H 385,212 13,882 - (631,998) (232,904)
Note: MsE -

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of a
subsidiary acquired through an exchange of shares as at the
date of the group reorganisation.

At the end of the reporting period, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the
Company (2019: Nil).

ARBZBHBAEARAEHTERRZ
EEENEHSEE B BB NKEZ
MEARzEEFELER -

NBEMR - ARREERS - KRB WE
ERAHIIETFARBRERZFHRHE(ZE—N
FE) -

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

36. SUBSIDIARIES 36. MIBAE]
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as FEMRBATFHENT :
follows:
Issued and
fully paid Proportion of
share capital/ interest held by
registered the Company
Place of capital FATHEL
incorporation/ BETR bt
Name operation BRRE/ Directly Indirecty  Principal activities
28 R SR dfEx EE RE IEXR
Asian Information Resources The British Virgin Islands US$200 100% - Investment holding
(BV) Limited* EBRLES 20057 RERR
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$11,228,290 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited* 30 11,228,200% REBER
THREERRR
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HKS2 - 100%  Investment holding and provision
Finance Limited 7 28T of treasure functions to group
companies
REBRRAZELTRE
EHRS
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HKS2 - 100% Provision of administration services
Investment Limited 7 28T to group companies
REERARMETHRS
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Marketing Limited &% 10,0007 RERR
Biztech Company Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100% Investment holding
BERRARAA b 100,000 7 REZR
Guangzhou Wavecom The PRC RMB36,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Communications and i AR36,000,000 RERR
Advertising Limited*
BNERERREARAT
ACR Capital Management Limited*  The British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Provision of business management
EBRRES 1% and consulting services in Asia
Pacific region
REABRREXHBEER
BRRS%

1 70 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 36.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (Cont’d)

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

EASE (&)
ETEMBATFHWEWT ¢ (2)

Issued and
fully paid Proportion of
share capital/ interest held by
registered the Company
Place of capital FATHAL
incorporation/ BETR bt hl
Name operation BRkE/ Directly Indirectly Principal activities
A R EERY #REX EE FE IEXH
RNTEREREERERAT  ThePRC US$2,000,000 - 100%  Provision of investment
EP 2,000,000% 7 management and consulting
services
REREEERERRE
MIEEEERXER The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% Inactive
atkdz (BRaN) * i AR30,0000007T TEe%
LEEE (BN) RO The PRC RMB13,000,0007C - 100%  Investment holding and provision
m ARE13,000,00070 of internet development
and maintenance services,
investment management and
consultancy services
3 Th&%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%?&%
% REEERERRE
Bohu Holdings (Guangzhou) The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 51% Investment holding
Company Limited* i AR#10,000,00070 RERR
Bk (BN) BRAE"
Guangzhou Bohu Business School  The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 26.01%  Internet media services
Company Limited* HE AR 10,000,000 (Note) ~ BRAIEERK

RNRTEERARAR)

* Companies not audited by CHENG & CHENG
LIMITED.

Note: The directors of the Company considered that the
Group has sufficient dominant voting interest to direct
the relevant activities of Bohu Business School and
therefore the Group has control over it (see note 5(g)).

(Hi&E)
L ERSRARNTAASSRAMESNE
RARE -

M ARRERRE - REERE EHH
SEMEREEREERTERRME
BOEE) - Bt - AEBEEEE
R (R5E5()) -

SNEE (B ARAT TEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 36. MEBAS(Z)
Commitments in respect of subsidiaries BREAM B AT RIE
The Group has the following commitments relating to NEBFEK B A RA A REE :

its subsidiaries:

2020 2019
—Bo®FE —_TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Commitment to provide funding if called AEREE(INEE 12,265 -
Summarised financial information of material EXMBATIZHBERREE
subsidiaries

Summarised financial information in respect of each REBBEBERFERERZEWNBA
of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non- RIZHBEARBMEHINNOT o THI8 7%
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised B EREERNEIERI2E -

financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

2020
kgt 3
HK$°000
TFER
Group of Bohu Holdings ETERER

Current assets BB E 3,302
Non-current assets SEMENEE 256
Current liabilities mEaE (2,380)
Net assets BEFE 1,178
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARQ A A BIE#E (621)
Non-controlling interests of Bohu Holdings & T A% JE4L AR A 25 -

Non-controlling interests of the Group of BIEREEZ
Bohu Holdings FEPE R 1,799
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Summarised financial information of material
subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the Group of Bohu Holdings for the
period from the date of acquisition to 31 December
2020. The amounts disclosed are before any
intragroup eliminations.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

36. MBAS (&)
EXMBATZHISEHEE ()

TRINTHUBARE T _TF -
A=+ —BHYRBEFEREBR 2MBEE
MHEE  FERBEZeERTEANEEANY
SHAI 2 TR ©

2020
—BTE
HK$’000
TERT
Revenue Wz 85
Expenses 53 (1,831)
Loss for the year FEEE (1,746)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RATHRE AELEE (454)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests of BT R 2 R
Bohu Holdings FE1LEE -
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests of BT EREE 2 IHERER
the Group of Bohu Holdings fEE BB (1,292)
Loss for the year FEFE (1,746)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the RAREBEANEIGEMZEER
Company (160)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to the BRI
non-controlling interests of Bohu Holdings eI E M2 EEE =
Other comprehensive loss attributable to the BT EE 2 EERiERS
non-controlling interests of the Group of Bohu Holdings L EMEEEGE 62
Other comprehensive loss for the year REZHME2HEEE (98)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the RAREEABLEEEIRR
Company (614)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to the BT 2 SRR i 2
non-controlling interests of Bohu Holdings EIEEEEERE -
Total comprehensive loss attributable to BT EREE 2 TR ER
the non-controlling interests of the Group of B2 HEEBREE
Bohu Holdings (1,230)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEXHBEEHE (1,844)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of SRR
Bohu Holdings FEERERRRE -
Net cash inflow from operating activities LTSRS RAFEE 111
Net cash outflow from investing activities REZSMERS ML FE (45)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEBMERSRAFE -
Net cash inflow BeRmA S8 66

THAEERBRAT T -TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TFE+_A=+—HILEE

37. ASSOCIATES 37. BHEAT
Particulars of the associates are as follows: B NT 7 BT
Issued and Proportion of interest
Place of incorporation/ fully paid held by the Company
operation share capital FATRF 2R Principal
Name S/ BETR Directly Indirectly  activities
& G2 HERE B B FEER
Best Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 40%  Property investment
BHERERRR & 1057 NERE
ACR Singpoli Capital The British Us$100 - 50%  Inactive
Management Ltd. Virgin Islands
EERLES 100%7 BEK
ACR Sihai Capital Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 50% Inactive
Management Limited A 1,000,000%7C mERK

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38. IREHABEIE

(@) As announced by the Company on 28 (a) BUOARBAR_ZZT_ZF_A
February 2020, the Company proposed ZTN\BEI A - RAREREET
to implement a capital reorganisation (the BABA(KAEARL 2%
“Capital Reorganisation”) involving the K AR AR ([ B AN R ) R AR 9
capital reduction (“Capital Reduction “) and WA ([t 4E]) - RAREAR
share subdivision (“Share Subdivision”). The ZEEF=HA-THEBERTHR
Capital Reorganisation was approved at the RIFRIRE LERE - FIBOT

extraordinary general meeting held on 25 March
2020. Details of which are as follows:

(i) Capital Reduction (i) BREHHE

This involves the reduction of the nominal A ER T —F— A
value of each issued consolidated share THORE#RNEREETE
from HK$1.0 to HK$0.1 effective on 14 HlR 2 EEB1.0BTLRE
January 2021. The credit arising from 0.1 7T o B A H &M E
the Capital Reduction amounted to 4 7 # BR %8 180,811,000 /%5
HK$180,811,000 will transfer to the capital T EEER DB R E AR
reserve of the Company; and &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)
(@) (Cont’d)
(ij) Share Subdivision

Immediately following the Capital
Reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued consolidated share of nominal
value of HK$1.0 each will be subdivided
into ten new shares of HK$0.1 each
effective on 14 January 2021.

39. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the Company’s
Board of Directors on 30 March 2021.

38.

39.

e ISR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T_TEL-_A=T—HILFE

MEYREER(AE)

(a) (&)
(i) BREGHH
ZEERAEIRE - FREE
1.08 T2 EEBRETE G
DD IFAE10REREE
QABTZHKGL - RZT
——F—A+HmBAEK-

MRz
WERAMBRRENR T —F= 7
SHAEARTEEE HELEET

%
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERME

The table set out below summaries the results and the TXRBHAAREBMRBER BN REE 2 ¥
assets, liabilities and non- controlling interests of the # - && - BENIFERER  Bitg A%
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the lE’W‘HF@FE T2 22 & Gk o LE#E
Group’s published consolidated financial statements of the EWIEFRKEXIBIRER 2 H

respective years. This summary is not part of the audited

financial statements.

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBCBE —T-NE ZEF-N\§ ZE+F ZTXF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THL TR TAT AT

Results e
Revenue Yz 14,354 17,998 25,800 22,050 30,621
Loss attributable to /NGIE 2PN

owners of the Company 8 (12,521) (56,268) (57,383) (40,872) (2,234)
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BELH 46,599 59,135 148,276 196,145 230,690
Total liabilities aERE (35,696) (139,270)  (172,438)  (166,929)  (159,546)
Net (liabilities)/assets (8fE)/BEFE 10,903 (80,135) (24,162 29,216 71,144
Non-controlling interests IR ER (1,799) 1 1 1 15,670
(Capital deficiency)/equity AREEEA

attributable to the owners EL(EREL),/

of the Company % 9,104  (80,134)  (24,161) 29,217 86,814
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